Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Virology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yviro

Dynamic control of endogenous retroviruses during development

Helen M. Rowe, Didier Trono*

School of Life Sciences and "Frontiers in Genetics" National Program, Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne (EPFL), 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 December 2010 Accepted 6 December 2010 Available online 20 January 2011

Keywords:

Retroelement Endogenous retrovirus (ERV) Long interspersed nuclear element (LINE) Intracisternal A particle (IAP) Cytosine methylation Histone methylation Krüppel-associated box domain-zinc finger protein (KRAB-ZFP) KRAB-associated protein 1 (KAP1) Development

ABSTRACT

Close to half of the human genome encompasses mobile genetic elements, most of which are retrotransposons. These genetic invaders are formidable evolutionary forces that have shaped the architecture of the genomes of higher organisms, with some conserving the ability to induce new integrants within their hosts' genome. Expectedly, the control of endogenous retroviruses is tight and multi-pronged. It is most crucially established in the germ line and during the first steps of embryogenesis, primarily through transcriptional mechanisms that have likely evolved under their very pressure, but are now engaged in controlling gene expression at large, notably during early development.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

Genetic invasion parallels evolutionary complexity	74
Which retroelements are active today?	74
A fine balance between good and evil	75
ERVs are regulated early in development	76
Cutosine methylation acts from plants to mammals to block transcription	76
De noue DNA methyliteransforsees to reacting to block transcription.	76
	70
DNA methyltransferase 1 protects methylation at ERVs	77
A KRAB zinc finger protein in imprinting	78
Stella/PGC7 guards DNA methylation at ERVs in early embryos	78
LSH1 preferentially controls methylation at ERVs over single copy genes	78
NP95, an essential DNA methyltransferase cofactor	78
G9a acts at the centre of histone and DNA methylation cross talk	78
Histone methylation complements DNA methylation	79
ERVs are silenced by histone 3 lysine 9 methyltransferases	79
Histone deacetvlation suppresses ERV transcription.	80
Higher order dimensions of ERV silencing	80
Targeted silencing in embryogenesis by KAP1 and its KRAB-ZFP partners	80
Small RNAs silence ERVs in the germ line: expression drives repression.	81
A network of restriction pathways	82
Control beyond development	82
Divergentiation of FRVe 29	83
	00
	85
Acknowledgments	83
References	83

* Corresponding author. Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, School of Life Sciences, EPFL SV-DO, building SV, Station 19, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland. Fax: +41 21 693 1635. *E-mail address:* didier.trono@epfl.ch (D. Trono).



Review



Genetic invasion parallels evolutionary complexity

Close to half of the human genome is derived from retrotransposons replicating by the copy-and-paste mechanism used by exogenous retroviruses such as HIV. These genetic invaders are both essential motors of evolution and threats whose uncontrolled spread would be fatal to their host. Correspondingly, retrotransposons are tightly restricted through mechanisms often also engaged in fighting their exogenous viral counterparts. The RepBase compilation of repetitive sequences is clustered into 6 superfamilies comprising more than 200 groups of retroelements for which consensus sequences are given (or sequence examples for small families) (Blomberg et al., 2009; Jurka, 2000; Jurka et al., 2005; Medstrand et al., 2002). This classification broadly groups retroelements into either long terminal repeat (LTR)-containing (encompassing around 7-8% of human and mouse genomes (Jern and Coffin, 2008; Lander et al., 2001; Waterston et al., 2002) and including simple retrotransposons and endogenous retroviruses (ERVs) that possess an envelope gene), or non-LTR-retrotransposons such as LINE and SINE (long and short interspersed nuclear elements, (Goodier and Kazazian, 2008)), which together constitute 35% of human and mouse genomes (Bannert and Kurth, 2004). By comparison, protein-coding genes account for only 1.5% of the DNA in mammalian genomes (Venter et al., 2001; Waterston et al., 2002). Phylogenetic analyses of reverse transcriptase sequences strongly suggest a common origin for retroelements, likely also related to bacterial and mitochondrial genetic elements that encode a reverse transcriptase and to the eukaryotic telomerase gene.

There is a striking parallel between the accumulation of retroelements and the increasing evolutionary complexity of their host species. For example the genome coverage for repetitive elements runs from 3% in yeast to 6% in worms to 15% in flies to 40% in mice and 44% in humans (reviewed in Kidwell (2002)). Plant genomes are packed with retroelements, occupying 50% of their DNA (SanMiguel et al., 1996), which may strongly influence their modes of gene regulation. Most interestingly, the nature of the retroelements present in these species also changes with evolutionary complexity; LTR and non-LTR-retrotransposons have colonised plants, invertebrates and vertebrates while true endogenous retroviruses (containing an envelope gene) have remained mysteriously restricted to vertebrates (Gifford and Tristem, 2003). The emergence of ERVs (presumed to be remnants of retroviruses that once infected the germ line) coincided with that of adaptive immunity, suggesting that the lympho-tropism of many retroviruses may have played a role in this process (Litman et al., 2010). In turn, this led to the selection of various innate and adaptive retroviral restriction activities. Interestingly, the rise of ERVs occurred simultaneously to that of KRAB-containing zinc finger proteins (KRAB-ZFPs) (Emerson and Thomas, 2009), which likely play a prominent role in their control (Rowe et al., 2010), perhaps leaving RNA interference mechanisms to take care of the evolutionary more ancient LTR and non-LTR retrotransposons. The origin of endogenous retroviruses is still debated. There are both examples of exogenous retroviruses that became endogenized through loss of their envelope gene, some gaining the ability to retrotranspose (Ribet

Table 1

Classification of endogenous retroviruses.

et al., 2008), and of ancient retrotransposons that have captured an envelope and escaped from the cell (Malik et al., 2000; Song et al., 1994) and reviewed in Kim et al. (2004).

In this review, we will focus mostly on ERVs, since more is known about their regulation, and on the highly prevalent (20% of the human genome (Lander et al., 2001)) non-LTR retrotransposon LINE1, L1, even though less is understood of its replication and control. Classification of ERVs (see Table 1 for a summary) is based on their relation to exogenous retroviral families and the nature of their opted tRNA primers serving in their reverse transcription. It should be noted, though that almost identical ERVs can sometimes use different primers due to point mutations in their primer binding site (PBS) (Colicelli and Goff, 1986), just as distantly related viruses can use the same tRNA primer (e.g. MusD and HIV). Although it is known that ERVs are restricted to vertebrates, their relative ages are only now being uncovered (reviewed in Meylan and Trono (2009)): endogenous lentiviruses have recently been discovered in the rabbit and then in the gray mouse lemur, showing that this virus group is likely >14 million years old, more ancient than previously thought (Gifford et al., 2008; Gilbert et al., 2009; Katzourakis et al., 2007; Keckesova et al., 2009), and is capable as other retroviruses of infiltrating the germ line. Complex retroviruses in general are estimated to be >100 million years old as endogenous foamy viruses were recently found in the sloth genome (Katzourakis et al., 2009).

Which retroelements are active today?

Retroelements that the host needs to control actively are those still autonomous for retrotransposition. Today, some 80–100 L1 copies present in the human genome are still active with around 68 distinct among individuals and absent from the human genome reference sequence (Beck et al., 2010). These L1s are thought to account for 0.1% of *de novo* mutations in humans (Maksakova et al., 2006). Also, some rare members of the HERV-K family retain all open reading frames and exhibit polymorphism within the human population, suggesting recent integration events (Belshaw et al., 2005; Macfarlane and Simmonds, 2004; Turner et al., 2001).

In contrast, retrotransposons have remained far more active in rodents, causing close to 10% of spontaneous mutations in inbred strains of mice (Maksakova et al., 2006), while in humans transposition reached a peak around 40 million years ago and then sharply declined (Gifford and Tristem, 2003; Lander et al., 2001; Waterston et al., 2002). This difference may in turn parallel differences in host regulation of cellular genes and ERVs alike (Kunarso et al., 2010). ERVs are correspondingly highly polymorphic amongst mouse strains, attesting to their continuous activity (Takabatake et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008). The most active ERVs in the mouse are MusD/ETn (early transposon) elements and intracisternal A-type particle (IAP) elements (Lueders and Kuff, 1977), although only relatively few of them have the fully coding *gag* (group specific antigen) *pro* (polymerase) and pol (protease) genes necessary for retrotransposition (around 10 and 300 copies respectively (Dewannieux et al., 2004; Ribet et al., 2004).

	Class I	Class II	Class III
Mouse ERV Human HERV Related XRV genus	Murine leukaemia virus (MLV) HERV-H (His), HERV-W (Trp) Gamma RVs, Epsilon RVs	MusD, Intracisternal A particles (IAP), Mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV) HERV-K (Lys) Alpha RVs Beta RVs, Delta RVs Lentiviruses	MERV-L HERV-L (Leu) Spumaviruses

ERV, endogenous retrovirus; HERV, human endogenous retrovirus; XRV, exogenous retrovirus; RV, retrovirus; HERV tRNA primers, used for reverse transcription are stated in brackets.

Retroelements are transcriptionally active in germ cells (Peaston et al., 2004), early embryos and ES cells (Garcia-Perez et al., 2007; Macia et al., 2010). L1 RNA is transcribed in germ cells and then deposited in the zygote where it can undergo retrotransposition (Kano et al., 2009) leading to somatic mosaicism, but usually not to heritable new integrants. MERV-L is specifically activated during zygotic genome activation at the 2-cell stage in mouse embryos and then rapidly repressed by the blastocyst stage (Kigami et al., 2003; Svoboda et al., 2004). MERV-L is an active ERV like IAPs with around 16 copies in the mouse genome that have intact open reading frames (ORFs) and identical LTRs. IAP transcripts and the IAP core protein p73 are carried from the oocyte into early embryos, degraded and then peak again at the blastocyst stage after zygotic expression from the 2cell stage onwards, until the IAP genome is DNA methylated (Piko et al., 1984; Poznanski and Calarco, 1991; Svoboda et al., 2004). In contrast, MusD/ETn transcripts are abundant in post-implantation embryos (Loebel et al., 2004) and retroelements of the mammalian apparent LTR retrotransposon (MaLR) class are again differently regulated, being expressed mainly in mature oocytes (Peaston et al., 2004) (summarised in Figs. 1A + C). Despite the detection of ERV transcription in ES cells, these potently silence newly introduced murine leukeamia virus (MLV), ERVs and L1, likely due to stem cell specific restriction pathways as such silencing does not occur in differentiated cells (Garcia-Perez et al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2010; Teich et al., 1977). It was recently shown that extraembryonic endoderm stem (XEN) cells (see Fig. 1A) are also potent ERV silencers but not trophectoderm stem (TS) cells (Golding et al., 2010). Interestingly, overexpression of IAPs and MERV-L directly affects the pluripotency of ES cells (Ramirez et al., 2006). It is likely then that ERV expression and repression are linked to the control of cellular genes through development (Peaston et al., 2004). Noteworthy, traces of past ERVs in the form of solo LTRs that result from homologous recombination between the two flanking terminal repeats can also conserve a transcriptional and/or repressor activity that may influence the expression of neighbouring cellular genes. Other tissues exhibiting ERV activity are placenta (see next section) and thyroid (de Parseval et al., 2003; Schon et al., 2009; Seifarth et al., 2005). Surprisingly, L1 activity can be detected in neural progenitors in the adult human and mouse brain (Coufal et al., 2009; Muotri et al., 2005).

A fine balance between good and evil

The best illustration of the beneficial potential of ERVs is in the role of syncytins in placental physiology. Syncytins are responsible for the fusogenic ability of cells in the syncytiotrophoblast, and represent the envelope of endogenous retroviruses. In humans, syncytins 1 and 2 are derived from HERV-W and HERV-FRD, respectively, and in the mouse syncytins A and B similarly represent the envelope of endogenized retroviruses (Blaise et al., 2003, 2005; Blond et al., 2000; Dupressoir et al., 2009).



Fig. 1. Resetting ERV silencing during mouse development. (A) Mouse developmental program showing waves of DNA demethylation, X-inactivation and imprinting erasure in early embryos or primordial germ cells (PGCs). A time-line of development is shown along with various cell lines that can be derived and which represent different developmental stages: ICM, inner cell mass; ES, embryonic stem; TE, trophectoderm; TS, trophectoderm stem; PE, primitive endoderm; XEN, extraembryonic endoderm; EpiSCs, epiblast stem cells. We thank Daniel Mesnard for the E5.5 embryo photograph. (B) Differences in DNA methylation between Line1 and IAPs during reprogramming, and between early embryos and PGCs are shown: IAPs reach their lowest level of around 62% by the blastocyst stage, still considerably higher than Line1s that drop to around 25% methylation. See text for details. (C) Broad time-points where stated retroelements peak in their mRNA expression are shown along with the time at which their knockout is lethal. The arrow indicates lethality beyond the timescale indicated. Additionally, knockout of PIWI-like proteins or Gtsf1 leads to male sterility while loss of Stella affects female fertility. See text for details

That said, genome analyses reveal that endogenous retroviruses are usually located outside of genes and in antisense orientation to them (Medstrand et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2008), which considering that integration is random indicates a strong negative selection (Brady et al., 2009). One exception is sense LTRs overlapping 5' and 3' untranslated regions particularly in immunoglobulin and KRAB-zinc finger genes suggesting that some genes may harness LTR regulatory mechanisms (Medstrand et al., 2002; van de Lagemaat et al., 2003). In mice, genetic disorders caused by ERVs include diabetes and kinked tail, resulting from IAP insertions in the agouti or axin-fused genes respectively (Duhl et al., 1994; Michaud et al., 1994; Rakyan et al., 2003), as well as limb malformation associated with Dactylaplasia mutations caused by MusD insertions (Friedli et al., 2008; Kano et al., 2007). Remarkably, recent evidence suggests that patients with Rett syndrome, due to mutations in MeCP2, are more sensitive to L1 retrotransposition, suggesting a role for this class of retrotransposons in their neurological symptoms (Muotri et al., 2010). For a more extensive description of the effects of ERVs on the genomes of higher species, the reader is directed to recent reviews (Jern and Coffin, 2008; Kurth and Bannert, 2010; Singh et al., 2009).

ERVs are regulated early in development

Retroelements are permanently inactivated during embryonic development so as to exhibit a transcriptionally silent state in adult tissues and in the germ line. Their tight regulation is important to prevent insertional mutagenesis and needs to withstand zygotic genome activation, which takes place at the two-cell stage, shortly after fertilization, as well as the ensuing DNA demethylation that is required for reprogramming (Feng et al., 2010b; Oswald et al., 2000; Reik, 2007) and see Fig. 1A). During this latter process the paternal genome, which is uniquely moulded on protamines instead of histones, undergoes protamine-histone exchange and then suffers a wave of active DNA demethylation (reviewed in Wu and Zhang (2010)) within 4-8 h post-fertilization. The maternal genome, on the other hand, is subjected to passive DNA demethylation through iterative cell divisions, until the blastocyst stage when the embryo becomes newly globally methylated (Feng et al., 2010b). Another wave of genome-wide DNA demethylation takes place later from E10.5-E12.5 in the primordial germ cells ((Hajkova et al., 2002; Lane et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2002; Lees-Murdock et al., 2003) and reviewed in Morgan et al. (2005)) followed by remethylation (by E17.5 in the male germ-line or post birth in the female germ-line). Artificial reprogramming of somatic cells into induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells (reviewed in Hanna et al. (2010)) also relies on DNA demethylation (Bhutani et al., 2010). DNA methylation is highly relevant to retroelements because it is their best-studied mechanism of control and has even been proposed to have evolved primarily for this purpose (Reik, 2007; Reiss and Mager, 2007; Yoder et al., 1997). Indeed, retroelements are preferentially methylated compared to the genome average in several species, particularly in plants (Feng et al., 2010a), which share many parallels with mammals as well as differences in their mechanisms of reprogramming and retroelement regulation (Feng et al., 2010b; Law and Jacobsen, 2010). However, DNA methylation is only one of the regulatory events controlling ERVs, itself complemented by other silencing pathways, which explains how control is maintained in the face of demethylation and reprogramming. The various pathways involved in ERV repression from cytosine methylation to RNA interference, will now be described in detail.

Cytosine methylation acts from plants to mammals to block transcription

Transcriptional silencing through the methylation of cytosine at CpG dinucleotides is a well-established mechanism of gene regulation in mammals, which interestingly also operates in plants but is absent from Drosophila and Caenorhabditis elegans. Methylation occurs at CpGs throughout the mammalian genome, except over so-called CpG islands (Feng et al., 2010a). Some non-CpG cytosine methylation also takes place in mammalian ES cells (Lister et al., 2009; Ramsahoye et al., 2000), whereas in plants this specific nucleotide modification is encountered in all sequence contexts. While methylation within promoters is well known to silence transcription, its impact within gene bodies is unknown, although it has been proposed to block transcription from cryptic promoters (Tran et al., 2005). Transposable elements are kept in check by CpG methylation in the model plant Arabidopsis thaliana by DNA methyltransferases including Domains Rearranged Methyltransferase 2 (DRM2) and DNA methyltransferase 1 (MET1/DMT1), or in mammalian cells by DNMT3a and 3b (homologues of DRM2) and DNMT1 (the homologue of MET1). Aside from silencing ERVs, such DNA methylation in mammals also controls X chromosome inactivation and genomic imprinting, a process by which one allele for some 80 genes is silenced in a parent-of-origin-specific manner (Kaneda et al., 2004; Sado et al., 2004). DNMT3a and 3b can mediate de novo DNA methylation while DNMT1, which has a preference for hemi-methylated DNA, is involved in perpetuating methylation marks during DNA replication (Bestor et al., 1988; Bestor, 1988). DNMT2, on the other hand, is not required for de novo or maintenance methylation of viral DNA (Okano et al., 1998) but intriguingly it can methylate a specific cytosine within a transfer RNA, a function conserved from plants and insects to mammals (Goll et al., 2006). Cytosine methylation is, therefore, an ancient epigenetic modification crucial to many aspects of mammalian development and homeostasis; how Drosophila has evolved notably to control retroelements without this feature will be remarked upon later.

De novo DNA methyltransferases target specific retroelements

De novo methylation of retroelements occurs after erasure of methylation in cleavage embryos and again in primordial germ cells. These marks must be re-established by DNMT3a, DNMT3b and the related DNMT3-like protein, DNMT3L. DNMT3L does not possess methyltransferase activity itself but it plays a global role in the activation of DNMT3a and DNMT3b (Chedin et al., 2002; Suetake et al., 2004). Both DNMT3a and DNMT3b are required in development: DNMT3b^{-/-} embryos appear normal until E9.5 but die before birth, DNMT3a^{-/-} mice survive development but die at around 4 weeks of age, and double knockouts die before E11.5 (Okano et al., 1999). Endogenous MLV and IAP elements are slightly undermethylated in DNMT3b^{-/-} embryos and this phenomenon is more pronounced in double knockouts but still mild compared to the hypomethylation of IAP elements observed in DNMT1^{-/-} embryos (Okano et al., 1999).

Detailed analysis of fetal prospermatogonia has revealed that SINE-B1 repeats are methylated by DNMT3a, IAP elements and L1 repeats by both DNMT3a and DNMT3b, and satellite repeats by DNMT3b (Kato et al., 2007), while differential methylation at imprinted genes is dependent on DNMT3a in both germ lines (Kaneda et al., 2004; Kato et al., 2007). This suggests there to be some specificity in differential DNMT recruitment to retroelement families, although how DNMTs recognise their targets is an open question. It may be that undiscovered sequence-specific transcription factors control this interaction; presumably such factors would bind to common ERV determinants, though, since retroelements are highly polymorphic even within one family (Zhang et al., 2008). Interestingly, it was revealed that the DNMT3a-DNMT3L complex recognises a specific histone code (see histone methylation section (Ooi et al., 2007) and Fig. 2A) and functions to preferentially methylate CpGs at neat 8-10 bp intervals (Jia et al., 2007); the observation that SINE repeats harbour an overrepresentation of 8 bp spaced CGs might account for some specificity here (Ferguson-Smith and Greally, 2007; Glass et al., 2009).



Fig. 2. DNA methylation of ERVs in development. (A) *De novo* methylation: (i) binding of a DNMT3L–DNMT3a complex to unmethylated H3K4 tails ensures some specificity of *de novo* methylation also thought to act best at 8–10 bp intervals, at which CpGs are often spaced apart in ERVs (Glass et al., 2009; Jia et al., 2007; Ooi et al., 2007). (ii) NP95 interacts with regulatory domains of DNMT3a and DNMT3b through its SRA and ubiquitin–like domains (Meilinger et al., 2009) and with G9a (Kim et al., 2009) that also interacts with DNMT3a and DNMT3b (Epsztejn–Litman et al., 2008; Feldman et al., 2006). This complex is required for the initiation of silencing that is followed by *de novo* methylation (Meilinger et al., 2009) that occurs on newly introduced MLV (Dong et al., 2008), but whether there are specific factors that bridge this complex to ERVs is not known. The helicase LSH1 is also required for methylation of newly introduced MLV by an unknown mechanism (Zhu et al., 2006). (B) Maintenance methylation: DNMT1 (or the maternal DNMT10 in cleavage embryos) is recruited to replication forks through binding proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), G9a and NP95, which itself recognises hemimethylated DNA and directs DNMT1 to methylate the symmetrical CpG on the newly synthesized DNA strand. Loss of NP95 leads to diffused localisation of DNMT1 and IAP and L1 demethylation and expression in embryos and ES cells (Achour et al., 2008; Bostick et al., 2007; Sharif et al., 2007). Histones are shown in orange and unfilled vs. filled lollipops represent unmethylated vs. methylated CpGs respectively.

DNA methyltransferase 1 protects methylation at ERVs

Maintenance methylation plays a crucial role in ERV silencing in development as illustrated by the embryonic lethality of DNMT1-null embryos at E8.5 accompanied by 50-100 fold elevated transcript levels of IAPs (Walsh et al., 1998). This importance of DNMT1 in ERV regulation may be explained by data revealing IAP sequences to behave differently from other retroelements like L1 in their relative resistance to global demethylation during pre-implantation development. Indeed, IAPs remain heavily DNA methylated during this period (Fig. 1B) similar to imprinted genes (Howlett and Reik, 1991; Lane et al., 2003). The role of DNMT1 in this protection from demethylation was demonstrated by crossing DNMT1 mutant mice with viable vellow (A^{vy}) mice that harbour an IAP insertion in their agouti locus (Gaudet et al., 2004). In these mice, an IAP has inserted 100 kb upstream of the agouti gene in the opposite orientation and in its hypomethylated state it drives constitutive ectopic expression of agouti leading to yellow fur, obesity and tumours (Duhl et al., 1994; Michaud et al., 1994). In turn, the methylation state of the maternal IAP, which is partially inherited in embryogenesis (Morgan et al., 1999), silences the cryptic promoter within the 3'LTR and allows agouti expression from the hair-cycle promoters along with normal coat colour. Therefore the coat colour of these mice provides a direct read-out of the methylation status of the IAP. In this way, it was demonstrated that the short form of DNMT1 (DNMT1o) that is produced in oogenesis and abundant during pre-implantation development plays a crucial role in the maintenance of IAP methylation; depletion of this DNMT isoform during oogenesis led to a shift in the coat colour of litters from 4% yellow to 41% yellow (Gaudet et al., 2004). The role of DNMT1 in maintaining methylation patterns in cleavage embryos is further supported by another study showing that maternal and zygotic DNMT1 is sufficient to maintain methylation at most imprinted regions in pre-implantation embryos (Hirasawa et al., 2008). In this work, inactivation of maternal or zygotic DNMT1 (but not DNMT3a or DNMT3b) during early embryogenesis correlated with a dramatic loss of methylation imprints. Like-wise, DNMT1 was also shown to maintain methylation imprints in ES cells (Okano et al., 1999). How some retroelements such as IAPs are specifically targeted for DNMT1-mediated maintenance methylation in the face of global demethylation is unknown.

Also unexplained is the finding that DNMT1, although highly expressed in preimplantation embryos, is primarily cytoplasmic and its nuclear translocation at the eight-cell stage paradoxically coincides with rapid 5meC decline (Carlson et al., 1992). This further suggests that other regulatory factors likely including IAP sequence-recognising zinc finger proteins (see below) and methyl-CpG binding proteins (Reese et al., 2007) are important in controlling DNA methylation at ERVs.

A KRAB zinc finger protein in imprinting

It has recently been reported that, for many imprinted genes, the KRAB zinc finger protein ZFP57 is necessary to protect imprints from demethylation during early development (Li et al., 2008), presumably through the recruitment of DNMT1 (Hirasawa et al., 2008). Imprinted genes exhibit monoallelic expression due to heritable parent-oforigin-dependent DNA methylation, which is established in germ cells through the action of DNMT3a and DNMT3L (Kaneda et al., 2004). The predominant role of ZFP57 appears to be in maintaining methylation at multiple imprinting control regions (ICRs) in early embryos and complete loss of both maternal and zygotic ZFP57 leads to loss of imprints, gene dysregulation and lethality around midgestation. Furthermore, in humans, mutations in this protein are associated with hypomethylation at ICRs and transient neonatal diabetes (Mackay et al., 2008), stressing the importance of imprinting in development. Interestingly, mouse ZFP57 was also shown to be necessary for the reacquisition of maternal imprints at one locus. This is in line with previous data showing that the KRAB domain is able to recruit KRAB-associated protein 1 (KAP1, discussed later) and lead to de novo DNA methylation specifically during the first few days of embryogenesis (Wiznerowicz et al., 2007). So far, it is not known how ZFP57 recognises its ICR targets and loss of this factor does not affect methylation at IAP or L1 repeats, implying that either only certain loci are affected or that ERVs may be protected by (a) related factor(s)(Li et al., 2008).

Stella/PGC7 guards DNA methylation at ERVs in early embryos

DNA methylation is also under the control of a maternally expressed factor Stella/PGC7/Dppa3 that is carried into preimplantation embryos and acts to protect the maternal genome from demethylation specifically at IAP elements and some imprinted regions (Nakamura et al., 2007). In contrast, L1 and some other imprinted genes are not affected by loss of Stella. It should be noted, however, that LINE control in early embryos seems less dependent on DNA methylation, since in this setting these elements exhibit around 30% DNA methylation, compared with up to 90% for IAPs (Lane et al., 2003; Nakamura et al., 2007 and see Fig. 1b). Stella-null females display reduced fertility and their deficient embryos rarely survive until the blastocyst stage (Payer et al., 2003). Interestingly, IAP methylation levels in stella deficient oocytes are indistinguishable from controls indicating that stella acts only following fertilization to maintain methylation at these ERVs in preimplantation development (Nakamura et al., 2007).

LSH1 preferentially controls methylation at ERVs over single copy genes

A SNF2 chromatin-remodelling factor known as lymphoid-specific helicase 1 (LSH1) (with a homolog DDM1 in plants) is integral to genome stability since LSH1 knockout embryos suffer a striking widespread DNA demethylation of retroelements including IAP, L1 and SINE B1 (Dennis et al., 2001), and die shortly after birth. Interestingly, cellular gene expression is largely unaffected while retroelements lose repressive histone marks (Yan et al., 2003) and become overexpressed showing some specificity of LSH1 repression (Huang et al., 2004). IAP elements also become demethylated and derepressed in female germ cells lacking LSH1 (De La Fuente et al., 2006). Furthermore, LSH1 was documented to bind retroelement DNA in embryonic cells by chromatin immunoprecipitation (Huang et al., 2004), and to be required for DNMT3a and 3b methylation of newly introduced MLV as well as endogenous genes such as Oct4 (Zhu et al., 2006).

NP95, an essential DNA methyltransferase cofactor

The SET and RING finger-associated (SRA) protein, NP95 (nuclear protein of 95 kDa), also called UHRF1 or ICBP90, was recently defined as essential for global and local DNA methylation (Bostick et al., 2007; Sharif et al., 2007), after its plant homologue V1M1 was assigned a similar role. This conserved cofactor operates to maintain CpG methylation in Arabidopsis and zebrafish genomes as well as in the mouse (Feng et al., 2010a). Although DNMT1 has a natural binding affinity for hemi-methylated DNA that facilitates the deposition of 5meC marks on the newly replicating DNA strand, it depends on NP95 for its function (see Fig. 2B), and loss of NP95 leads to loss of methylation on retrotransposons and imprinted genes. Specifically, methylation marks are lost on IAP and L1 at E9.5, a time point at which both of these retroelements should normally be fully methylated. This correlates with overexpression of IAP (around 8fold) and to a lesser extent LINE and SINE transcripts. Consistent with this, NP95-null embryos fail to develop beyond around E9.5 like DNMT1-null embryos (see Fig. 1D). Interestingly NP95 targeting to DNA is dependent on its prior methylation (Bostick et al., 2007; Sharif et al., 2007), but paradoxically NP95 seems also involved in de novo methylation in ES cells (Meilinger et al., 2009) (see Fig. 2A). Indeed, NP95^{-/-} cells behave similarly to DNMT3a/b^{-/-} cells in that they cannot methylate newly introduced DNA (in this case the cytomegalovirus promoter). NP95 interacts through its SRA and ubiquitin-like domains with the regulatory regions of DNMT3a and DNMT3b and this interaction is necessary for promoter silencing that precedes DNA methylation (Meilinger et al., 2009). Intriguingly, NP95 can also associate with the histone methyltransferase G9a (Kim et al., 2009), another important player in the methylation of DNA (see Fig. 2).

G9a acts at the centre of histone and DNA methylation cross talk

G9a is one of 6 histone methyltransferases (HMTases) with H3K9 catalytic activity present in mammalian cells; it is involved in depositing H3K9me1 and H3K9me2 marks, yet curiously exerts a potent role in controlling DNA methylation in ES cells, which it performs independently of its HMTase activity (Dong et al., 2008; Tachibana et al., 2008). This is in contrast to the H3K9 HMTase KRYPTONITE in plants, the requirement of which for DNA methylation depends entirely on its methylation of histones (Freitag and Selker, 2005; Jackson et al., 2002). In G9a^{-/-} ES cells, H3K9me3 marks remain intact at retrotransposons while DNA methylation is dramatically reduced (e.g. at MLV, IAP elements and L1 (Dong et al., 2008; Tachibana et al., 2008). The same is true for $GLP^{-/-}$ cells, presumably because this closely related HMTase forms a complex with G9a. Complementation with catalytically inactive mutants of G9a partially rescues DNA methylation indicating its HMTase function to be dispensable. It is rather the recruitment of DNMT3a that is affected and accordingly G9a^{-/-} cells are impaired in their ability to *de novo* methylate newly integrated MLV vectors. Surprisingly, expression of retroelements is only mildly affected in $G9a^{-/-}$ cells compared to DNMT1^{-/-} ES cells and to a lesser extent DNMT3a/b^{-/-} cells, which display a slight overexpression of IAP elements. This implies that either the underlying DNA methylation is sufficient to retain retroelements in a silent state or that their transcription is still blocked likely through histone methylation.

Histone methylation complements DNA methylation

Histone N-terminal tails serve as targets for a wide range of dynamic chemical modifications including methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination. Gene expression is then modulated through interactors transiently recruited by the resulting chromatin structure. This important layer of gene regulation attributed to histone modification may explain how, for example, *Drosophila* can retain control (albeit less effectively (Yoder et al., 1997) of its retroelements in spite of the absence of cytosine methylation at CpG dinucleotides and why DNMT3a/b double knockout ES cells can still silence newly integrating MLV (Pannell et al., 2000). Indeed, MLV silencing in embryonic carcinoma cells is well established to occur within 2 days, while LTR methylation is not present until 8–14 days post transduction (Gautsch and Wilson, 1983; Kempler et al., 1993; Niwa et al., 1983) (and see Fig. 3). This initial silencing rather involves histone modifications.

Here, we will focus on histone methylation because of its established role in retroelement silencing and its known link with DNA methylation. Indeed, one example of cross-talk between histone and DNA methylation is in the embryo: the maternal genome inherits its epigenetic memory from the oocyte in its histone code and when *de novo* methylation takes place, it is dependent on DNMT3L binding to unmethylated histone 3 lysine 4 sites and not to CpG islands that are enriched for H3K4 methylation (Jia et al., 2007; Ooi et al., 2007).

More generally, genome-wide maps of histone and DNA methylation have shown the two to be intricately linked (Meissner et al., 2008; Mohn et al., 2008; Okitsu and Hsieh, 2007; Weber et al., 2007), with methylation of lysine 9 or 27 of histone 3 being positively correlated while lysine 4 H3 methylation is anticorrelated.

ERVs are silenced by histone 3 lysine 9 methyltransferases

Histone 3 lysine 9 marks are observed at LTR elements in ES cells (Martens et al., 2005; Mikkelsen et al., 2007) and could potentially be written by six HMTases, including the above mentioned G9a, most of which also directly or indirectly recruit DNMT proteins (Epsztejn-Litman et al., 2008; Fuks et al., 2003; Lehnertz et al., 2003; Li et al., 2006). Each member is critical at a distinct time during development as indicated by gene disruption studies in mice: double knockout of Suv39h1 and Suv39h2, which trimethylate H3K9 at satellite repeats, severely impairs viability, although embryos develop normally until E12.5 (Lehnertz et al., 2003; Peters et al., 2001). Knockout of G9a or GLP, which catalyse H3K9 di and trimethylation in euchromatin, is lethal at E9.5 (Tachibana et al., 2002; Tachibana et al., 2005). Finally, knockout of ESET (SETDB1), which mediates H3K9 di and trimethylation is lethal at E3.5–E5.5 (Dodge et al., 2004). The most interesting of these in terms of ERV regulation is ESET because it is required precisely when ERVs become inactivated (Jahner et al., 1982) and correspondingly, $ESET^{-/-}$ ES cells lose transcriptional control of



Fig. 3. MLV is potently silenced in embryonic cells. (A) Silencing is rapid and precedes DNA methylation: *Cis*-acting sequences inducing silencing include the NCR (negative control region) and an ELP-binding site, but the most potent is the PBS that recruits a ZFP809–KAP1 complex and HP1γ leading to H3K9me2 (Wolf et al., 2008a; Wolf and Goff, 2007, 2009). KAP1 may also recruit ESET and the NuRD complex as shown for other contexts (Matsui et al., 2010; Schultz et al., 2001). (B) MLV is sustained in a silent state through multiple mechanisms: DNA methylation is progressive following silencing and reaches around 80% after 8–14 days. In EC cells, stably silent MLV proviruses are enriched for KAP1(Wolf and Goff, 2007), DNA methylation, MeCP2 and histone H1(Pannell et al., 2000). Silencing and DNA methylation of introduced MLV is also dependent on DNMT3a/b, G9a and NP95, which may be attracted to ERVs through histone methylation or unknown factors (Meilinger et al., 2009).

MusD and IAP elements (Matsui et al., 2010), (see section on KAP1) and, curiously have been reported to have an ability to form trophoblast-like cells (Bilodeau et al., 2009; Yuan et al., 2009). Another histone methylation mark associated with ERVs is H4K20me3, which is highly enriched at ETn/MusD and IAP elements and overlaps with H3K9me3 (Kourmouli et al., 2004; Martens et al., 2005; Mikkelsen et al., 2007; Schotta et al., 2004). Intriguingly, H3K27 methylation has also been reported to overlap with H3K9 methylation in ES cells (Mikkelsen et al., 2007), in support of data implicating polycomb group proteins in ERV silencing (Golding et al., 2010; Leeb et al., 2010), a pathway implicated in plants in preventing re-replication and expression of transposon DNA (Jacob et al., 2010).

Although the functional consequences of H3K9me are not completely understood, DNA and histone methyl marks together lead to the assembly of more compact chromatin that further attracts effectors of gene silencing; heterochromatin proteins (HP1), for example, recognise an interface created by H3K9methylation (Bannister et al., 2001; Lachner et al., 2001). Also, silent chromatin is bound by the linker histone H1 (Pannell et al., 2000) that allows contraction of nucleosomes. An important question, though, is still which factors represent correlates of repression and which act as the controllers?

Histone deacetylation suppresses ERV transcription

Histone deacetylation is another key histone modification involved in silencing viral genes and is well known to take place on histone 3 and histone 4 tails at lysine residues (Chen and Townes, 2000; Lorincz et al., 2000; Schubeler et al., 2000). Treatment of cells with the HDAC inhibitor TSA reactivates virus-like 30S elements, a subgroup of LTR-retrotransposons. Interestingly, this process is greatly enhanced if the MAP kinase pathway is activated to deposit a histone 3 serine 10 phosphorylation mark. This indicates that this retroelement is regulated by a dual histone mark of phosphoacetylation (Brunmeir et al., 2010). Crosstalk can also occur between DNA methylation and histone deacetylation because the methyl-CpGbinding protein MeCP2 interacts with deacetylase complexes (Jones et al., 1998; Nan et al., 1998). Histone methylation is further linked to histone deacetylation, illustrated by the histone demethylase LSD1/ KDM1A that demethylates the active marks H3K4 mono and dimethylation (Shi et al., 2004) and is in turn connected to HDAC1 and HDAC2 (You et al., 2001). Histone deacetylation further plays a key role in silencing IAP elements (Rowe et al., 2010), as well as introduced L1 constructs in embryonic cells (Garcia-Perez et al., 2010).

Higher order dimensions of ERV silencing

Transcriptional repression is often maximised in specific nuclear subdomains. Imprinted clusters are found in such higher order repressive nuclear compartments, the formation of which depends on polycomb group proteins (Terranova et al., 2008). Interestingly, the creation of a silent nuclear compartment in X-inactivation has recently been reported to involve both silent and active L1s resident on the X-chromosome (Chow et al., 2010). Silent L1s are thought to mediate the assembly of this compartment, while active L1s may mediate the RNA-directed spread of silencing.

As well, it has been observed from yeast to humans that repression of blocks of genes is broadly achieved by targeting them to the nuclear periphery (Dekker, 2008; Fraser and Bickmore, 2007; Towbin et al., 2009), although this concept remains largely unexplored in terms of ERV regulation. Alternatively, some retrotransposons like gypsy are already targeted to silent nuclear compartments during integration under the influence of the chromodomain present in their integrase (Gao et al., 2008). In contrast, mammalian ERVs tend to integrate, like their exogenous counterparts, near active genes (Brady et al., 2009; Schroder et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2008). The more frequent detection of ERVs outside of genes or running in antisense orientation to them is thus the result of a counter-selection.

A recent study classified chromatin into five distinct types in Drosophila embryonic cells due to their different profiles of associated proteins as defined by DamID technology (Filion et al., 2010). This method involves fusing your protein of interest to a DNA adenine methyltransferase (Dam) so that an adenine-methylation footprint will act as a stable readout for binding sites of the selected protein (van Steensel et al., 2001). Three repressive types of chromatin were identified this way and one of these, designated as black chromatin, covered half the genome and intriguingly exerted the strongest repressor activity, yet lacked classical heterochromatin markers. It also encompassed the longest domains that could extend to over 100 kb in size. Whether this compartment applies to mammalian cells and is most enriched for certain retroelements is unknown but if so, such long distinct domains could explain another layer of ERV silencing as well as how, for example, IAP elements can influence cellular genes 100 kb distant from them (Duhl et al., 1994; Michaud et al., 1994; Morgan et al., 1999).

Finally, differentiation itself is known to exert an extra level of ERV repression as has also been described for MLV; even MLV-derived vectors modified to escape initial repression in ES cells through removal of *cis*-acting sequences ultimately suffer silencing when the cells undergo differentiation (Niwa et al., 1983), while no such phenomenon is observed if these vectors are introduced in already differentiated cells (Teich et al., 1977). An attractive hypothesis would be that, during differentiation, ERVs are pulled into LOCKs (large organised chromatin K9 modifications), which are silent chromatin blocks of up to 2.9Mb that spread to cover around 31% of the genome in differentiated cells, compared to 4% in undifferentiated ES cells (Wen et al., 2009). These LOCKs are covered with G9a-dependent H3K9me2, thought to be anchored to the nuclear membrane and are tissue specific to silence genes not needed in a particular cell type. Whether LOCKs explain ERV silencing during differentiation and whether they are retained in LOCKs depending on where they are integrated or through an ERV-directed mechanism is unknown.

Targeted silencing in embryogenesis by KAP1 and its KRAB-ZFP partners

As discussed, there is a plethora of data that show a clear correlation between DNA methylation or certain histone marks and a transcriptionally inactive state of viral genes, as well as crosstalk between the two (reviewed in Cedar and Bergman (2009)). On the other hand, very little is understood concerning how retroelements are specifically targeted for writing and maintaining methylation marks at their DNA and histones. One pathway that links specificity to silencing machinery involves the KAP1 corepressor and its DNA binding partners, the KRAB-zinc finger proteins, which together constitute the largest family of transcription factors in mammals (Huntley et al., 2006). The importance of this regulatory pathway is illustrated by the early embryonic lethality of the KAP1 knockout mouse at E5.5–E6.5 (Cammas et al., 2000) as well as lethality in ES cells following widespread activation of hundreds of genes (Rowe et al., 2010).

KRAB-ZFPs (<u>Krüppel-associated box domain-zinc finger proteins</u>) are encoded in the hundreds by the mouse and human genomes (Emerson and Thomas, 2009; Hamilton et al., 2006) and they target specific DNA sequences through their zinc finger motifs, while recruiting KAP1 (KRAB-associated protein 1, also known as tripartite motif-containing protein 28, TRIM28 or transcription intermediary factor beta, TIF1b) with their conserved KRAB domain. KAP1 then acts as a scaffold for a silencing complex that involves the histone methyltransferase ESET, heterochromatin proteins in the HP1 family and the NuRD histone deacetylase complex (Ayyanathan et al., 2003;

Cammas et al., 2004; Ivanov et al., 2007; Satou et al., 2001; Schultz et al., 2002, 2001; Sripathy et al., 2006; Underhill et al., 2000; Zeng et al., 2008), although remarkably, the in vivo targets of KAP1 are largely unknown. Several KAP1 target genes have recently been characterised (Chang et al., 2009; O'Geen et al., 2007; Riclet et al., 2009; Takahashi et al., 2009; Wolf et al., 2008a; Wolf and Goff, 2007, 2009) and among these, one striking example is the MLV primer binding site (PBS) that is complementary for proline tRNA, a previously well-characterised embryonic cell specific cis-acting repressor (Akgun et al., 1991; Barklis et al., 1986; Feuer et al., 1989; Haas et al., 2003; Linney et al., 1984; Loh et al., 1987, 1990; Niwa et al., 1983; Petersen et al., 1991; Teich et al., 1977; Tsukiyama et al., 1989; Vernet and Cebrian, 1996; Yamauchi et al., 1995). The 18 nucleotide-long MLV PBS^{Pro} is targeted by a KRAB-ZFP809-KAP1 complex in a highly sequence-specific fashion, single point mutations sufficing to prevent this event (Wolf and Goff, 2007, 2009)(see Fig. 3). Interestingly, an independent PBS sequence, complementary for Lys1, 2 tRNA that is used by some other retroviruses including visna, spuma and Mason-Pfizer monkey virus also mediates repression (Modin et al., 2000; Yamauchi et al., 1995) through KAP1 (Wolf et al., 2008b) and presumably a distinct KRAB-ZFP.

We previously found that KAP1 plays a role in de novo DNA methylation of a KRAB-controlled lentiviral vector precisely when (E3.5-E8.5) ERVs normally become silenced (Wiznerowicz et al., 2007). This prompted us to evaluate the potential role of KAP1 in resetting ERVs in a transcriptionally silent state during embryogenesis. We found that conditional knockout of KAP1 in murine embryonic stem cells led to the overexpression of IAP elements (by around sixty fold) as well as MusD, MERVL, MERVK and to a lesser extent L1 (Rowe et al., 2010). We focused our further studies on IAPs because they are particularly active (Dewannieux et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2008) and known to cause spontaneous mutations in laboratory mice. It was recently demonstrated that IAPs, which no longer express an envelope and bud in the endoplasmic reticulum, originated from full-length retroviruses that once infected the germ line (Ribet et al., 2008). We found that IAPs are highly overexpressed (up to $1000 \times$) in $KAP1^{-/-}$ early embryos, specifically in the epiblast where KAP1 is normally enriched. In contrast, IAPs are not re-activated by disruption of KAP1 in embryonic fibroblasts (Rowe et al., 2010). This is consistent with the lower (twenty times less) level of KAP1 protein in these cells and the notion that once silenced in development, such genomic viruses remain controlled in adult tissues by DNA methylation that is stably inherited (Martens et al., 2005; Meissner et al., 2008; Mikkelsen et al., 2007).

Additionally, we found KAP1 to be associated with IAP proviruses by chromatin immunoprecipitation studies, particularly at the 5'UTR region, and that such sequences could mediate KAP1-dependent repression of a reporter in ES cells. Knockout of KAP1 led to loss of histone methylation and deacetylation marks consistent with a model whereby active genomic viruses are controlled through direct docking of a KAP1-containing repressor complex that resets them in a silent state during development by histone modifications (Rowe et al., 2010). This data also suggests that neighbouring genes could be regulated through KAP1 binding to ERV platforms, especially since it was found that KAP1 can mediate long-range repression (Groner et al., 2010). We postulate that this ERV-targeting transcriptional control has been co-opted to regulate cellular gene expression during early development.

These results were corroborated by the demonstration that IAPs and MusD are dramatically upregulated in ES cells deleted for ESET, the histone methyltransferase that was suspected to act downstream of KAP1 (Matsui et al., 2010). By comparison, only a mild reactivation of these retroelements was observed in other HMTase knockout ES cells or upon ESET deletion in embryonic fibroblasts, consistent with the demonstration of ESET binding to proviruses and the presence of histone marks specifically in ES cells (Matsui et al., 2010). Class III ERVs and non-LTR retroelements were less affected by disruption of this pathway. Interestingly, it was also shown that in DNMT triple knockout cells, ESET and KAP1 binding is preserved as well as H3K9me3, explaining why ERV silencing is largely maintained in these cells (Matsui et al., 2010; Tsumura et al., 2006) and during embryogenesis when DNA methylation is reprogrammed. DNA methylation and KAP1 act synergistically to silence ERVs (Rowe et al., 2010) and furthermore, when ESET is removed, DNA methylation is eventually lost at an introduced MSCV vector presumably due to loss of histone methylation (Matsui et al., 2010), showing that a KAP1-ESET complex is necessary to establish a silent transcriptional state in early embryos. It seems that, during development, the key mechanism to silence ERVs is H3K9me3 while DNA methylation is often present but dispensable, whereas in differentiated cells, DNA methylation is key while H3K9me3 is absent at ERVs (Mikkelsen et al., 2007) (summarised in Fig. 4).

These studies imply that a series of sequence-specific KRAB-ZFPs most likely act in early embryogenesis to bridge KAP1 to ERV sequences. They remain to be formally identified, but it is likely that a significant fraction of the over 250 KRAB-ZFPs found to be expressed in ES cells were originally selected to target ERVs (Rowe et al., 2010). Indeed, phylogenetic analyses have revealed that KRAB-ZFP genes appeared with the first tetrapods, and have since then been under strong positive selection (Emerson and Thomas, 2009) and subject to rapid expansion (Waterston et al., 2002), adding fuel to the hypothesis that viruses within our genome have acted as moving targets in relentless genetic conflict with zinc finger proteins necessary for their control.

Importantly, aside from partnering KRAB-ZFPs in repression, KAP1 has pleiotropic functions perhaps controlled by its different post-translational modifications (Ivanov et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007, 2010; Ziv et al., 2006), some of which may be shared with its TIF1 *Drosophila* homolog, Bonus (Beckstead et al., 2005), which presumably doesn't interact with KRAB-ZFPs, that are absent from *Drosophila* only having undergone rapid expansion in mammals (Birtle and Ponting, 2006; Emerson and Thomas, 2009; Tadepally et al., 2008; Urrutia, 2003).

Small RNAs silence ERVs in the germ line: expression drives repression

In plants it is well established that somewhat paradoxically, transcription is needed to drive gene silencing through small RNAmediated de novo DNA methylation (reviewed in Bourc'his and Voinnet (2010); Law and Jacobsen (2010)). By analogy, the mammalian genome may undergo expression following methylation erasure in order to reset DNA methylation patterns on retroelements during development, so that silencing becomes stabilized in adult tissues. Such control of retroelements by small RNAs appears a relevant approach to regulate diverse families of highly polymorphic mobile elements by relying on their own sequences to target silencing machinery. A piwi-interacting RNA (piRNA) pathway that acts in germ cells is well described in Drosophila (Aravin et al., 2001): piRNAs are 24-30 nt long, derived from repeat-rich clusters and their processing is dicer-independent. Instead, antisense, piRNAs bind Piwi or Aubergine proteins that direct cleavage of sense mRNA from retroelements, which produces sense piRNAs that bind Ago3, which directs cleavage of antisense mRNAs, leading to ping-pong amplification of silencing (Aravin et al., 2007a; Brennecke et al., 2007; Gunawardane et al., 2007). Furthermore, Drosophila Piwi associates with HP1 and chromatin at H3K9me3 sites also implicating piRNAs in transcriptional gene silencing of repeats (Brower-Toland et al., 2007). Similar germ line-specific Piwi-like proteins termed Miwi, Mili and Miwi2 are also found in the mouse (Girard et al., 2006). In Mili mutant oocytes, IAP transcripts are elevated by 3.5 fold (Watanabe et al., 2008) and, interestingly, loss of Mili and Miwi2 in the male germ line leads to sterility, L1 activation and impaired de novo CpG methylation



Fig. 4. Silencing of ERVs from ES cells and early embryos to adult tissues. (A) ERV control in ES cells where chromatin is in a dynamic state: Several active ERVs are enriched in ES cells for KAP1 (particularly at the 5'UTR), HP1, ESET, H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 (Matsui et al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2010). It is not known if KRAB-ZFPs or the NuRD complex play a role in this pathway as shown for other contexts (Schultz et al., 2001; Wolf and Goff, 2009). These proviruses are also all highly DNA methylated, but this mechanism is not the main regulator in ES cells but rather H3K9me3. (B) Differentiation brings another layer of ERV control where chromatin is set in a fixed state: KAP1 and H3K9me3 are lost at ERVs in differentiated cells and DNA maintenance methylation becomes crucial (Matsui et al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2010; Walsh et al., 1998). This process involves chromatin reorganisation including into large silent domains where ERVs may be retained (Wen et al., 2009).

of IAPs and L1 (Aravin et al., 2006; Aravin and Bourc'his, 2008; Aravin et al., 2008, 2007b; Carmell et al., 2007; Deng and Lin, 2002; Kuramochi-Miyagawa et al., 2008).

Dicer-dependent small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) that are produced from long double-stranded RNAs also cooperate to suppress retroelements during development: dicer knockout ES cells display elevated levels of IAPs and L1 and similarly, dicer-depleted early embryos suffer an increase in IAPs and MERV-L that give rise to both sense and antisense transcripts owing to their bidirectional promoters (Svoboda et al., 2004). Dicer knockout in mouse oocytes leads to an increase particularly in some retrotransposons (e.g. retrotransposon LTR 10 was 5-fold increased) (Tam et al., 2008; Watanabe et al., 2008). L1 siRNAs have even been detected in cell lines (Yang and Kazazian, 2006).

A network of restriction pathways

Although restriction factors probably now act mainly to counter somatic infections of exogenous retroviruses (reviewed in Wolf and Goff (2008)), they may also act to prevent amplification of ERVs. For example, APOBEC3s reduce L1, Alu, IAP and MusD activity (Esnault et al., 2005) and reviewed in Chiu and Greene (2008) and Turelli and Trono (2005), and may act as important post-transcriptional ERV blockers in early embryos and germ cells where they are expressed. L1 may also be blocked by DNA-repair mechanisms (Gasior et al., 2008). Trex prevents accumulation of reverse-transcribed DNA from L1 and IAPs (Stetson et al., 2008) and reviewed in (Goodier and Kazazian, 2008). L1 is controlled within a germ cell-specific organelle composed of the mouse protein Mael, the disruption of which leads to L1 derepression (Soper et al., 2008). Several other germ cell expressed genes are important in spermatogenesis with Tex19.1 specifically repressing the class II ERV, MMERVK10C (Ollinger et al., 2008) and the zinc finger protein Gtsf1 acting on L1 and to a lesser extent IAPs (Yoshimura et al., 2009). Since many retroelements possess bidirectional promoters they may even inhibit themselves by antisense transcription. The immune system too likely selectively clears any cells harbouring ERVs due to their presentation of novel ERV antigens or due to as yet unidentified cell-type specific intracellular sensors that detect retroviral and possibly ERV capsids (Manel et al., 2010).

Most interestingly, endogenous envelopes or Gag proteins themselves can confer resistance to exogenous retroviral infection. The best example of this is the restriction factor Fv1 that resembles a MERV-L Gag protein and blocks MLV after reverse transcription (Best et al., 1996) likely through a capsid interaction similar to that effected by human TRIM5alpha on the capsids of MLV and other viruses including those of ancient retroviruses (Huthoff and Towers, 2008; Kaiser et al., 2007). The expression of ERVs in stem cells may thus protect the host from further assaults.

Control beyond development

ERVs are generally regulated during development (Fig. 1) and accordingly the expression of many ERV controllers such as DNMT3a/b, and DNMT1 is predominant in germ cells, early embryos and ES cells (Carlson et al., 1992; Howlett and Reik, 1991). Furthermore, microarray atlas data (Su et al., 2004), indicate Stella, LSH1, KAP1,

DNMT3L, NP95, ESET, Suv39h1, Suv39h2, HDAC1, Mili, Miwi, and Mael to also be predominantly expressed in embryos, ovary, testes or thymus. It therefore follows that, in differentiated cells, H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 are lost at ERVs (Martens et al., 2005; Matsui et al., 2010; Mikkelsen et al., 2007) presumably because they are no longer needed due to independent silencing mechanisms (Wen et al., 2009). However interestingly, retroviral silencing is not strictly stem cellspecific as there are some reports of immediate or progressive silencing of introduced retroviruses for example in early passage mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and bone marrow stromal cells (Haas et al., 2003). This implies that active ERV silencing may take place in specific adult tissues and may even relate to HIV latency (reviewed in (Trono et al., 2010)); while this process may depend on the genomic context of certain integrants, there are certain cell types prone to latency and in turn tissue-specific factors that play an active role in inducing latency. Such novel latency-related factors will no doubt be discovered in the coming years.

Dysregulation of ERVs

ERVs have long been suspected to play roles in cancer, autoimmunity or immune suppression, which could result from loss of their regulation (reviewed in (Balada et al., 2009; Moyes et al., 2007)). Importantly, it still remains to be determined if ERV silencing is properly maintained during reprogramming of somatic cells to induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells (Okita et al., 2007; Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Wernig et al., 2007). Good vs. bad iPS clones (those that are germ line competent vs. not) may even reflect differences in ERV expression. Interestingly, silent blocks of chromatin termed LOCKS (see above) are found to be lost in cancer cell lines, explaining an increase in genome plasticity in these cells and perhaps also the subsequent overexpression of ERVs (Ono et al., 1987; Schiavetti et al., 2002), the antigens of which might prove beneficial as tumour vaccines.

Conclusions

The present review described our growing understanding of the complex regulatory networks responsible for inactivating the expression of retroelements during early development. Converging recent data additionally suggests that development itself is in fact controlled by temporal and spatial expression and repression of retroelements, and that some cellular genes crucial during this period are coregulated with ERVs and related entities. This concept still remains quite unexplored, as do the identities of the stem cell-specific factors thought to target gene silencing to ERVs, LINEs and other retrotransposons. Improving our understanding of these factors and networks and of their impact on the genome will facilitate the comprehension not only of the early phases of mammalian development but also of pathologies that may stem from their dysregulation, such as autoimmunity and cancer.

Acknowledgments

We thank the Swiss National Science Foundation, the European Research Council, the Infectigen Association and the Strauss Foundation for financial support. We thank P. V. Maillard and D. Mesnard for comments and suggestions. We regret not being able to cite all relevant work in this field due to space constraints.

References

Achour, M., Jacq, X., Ronde, P., Alhosin, M., Charlot, C., Chataigneau, T., Jeanblanc, M., Macaluso, M., Giordano, A., Hughes, A.D., Schini-Kerth, V.B., Bronner, C., 2008. The interaction of the SRA domain of ICBP90 with a novel domain of DNMT1 is involved in the regulation of VEGF gene expression. Oncogene 27 (15), 2187–2197.

- Akgun, E., Ziegler, M., Grez, M., 1991. Determinants of retrovirus gene expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. J. Virol. 65 (1), 382–388.
- Aravin, A., Gaidatzis, D., Pfeffer, S., Lagos-Quintana, M., Landgraf, P., Iovino, N., Morris, P., Brownstein, M.J., Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Nakano, T., Chien, M., Russo, J.J., Ju, J., Sheridan, R., Sander, C., Zavolan, M., Tuschl, T., 2006. A novel class of small RNAs bind to MILI protein in mouse testes. Nature 442 (7099), 203–207.
- Aravin, A.A., Bourc'his, D., 2008. Small RNA guides for *de novo* DNA methylation in mammalian germ cells. Genes Dev. 22 (8), 970–975.
- Aravin, A.A., Hannon, G.J., Brennecke, J., 2007a. The Piwi-piRNA pathway provides an adaptive defense in the transposon arms race. Science 318 (5851), 761–764.
- Aravin, A.A., Naumova, N.M., Tulin, A.V., Vagin, V.V., Rozovsky, Y.M., Gvozdev, V.A., 2001. Double-stranded RNA-mediated silencing of genomic tandem repeats and transposable elements in the D. melanogaster germline. Curr. Biol. 11 (13), 1017–1027.
- Aravin, A.A., Sachidanandam, R., Bourc'his, D., Schaefer, C., Pezic, D., Toth, K.F., Bestor, T., Hannon, G.J., 2008. A piRNA pathway primed by individual transposons is linked to *de novo* DNA methylation in mice. Mol. Cell 31 (6), 785–799.
- Aravin, A.A., Sachidanandam, R., Girard, A., Fejes-Toth, K., Hannon, G.J., 2007b. Developmentally regulated piRNA clusters implicate MILI in transposon control. Science 316 (5825), 744–747.
- Ayyanathan, K., Lechner, M.S., Bell, P., Maul, G.G., Schultz, D.C., Yamada, Y., Tanaka, K., Torigoe, K., Rauscher III, F.J., 2003. Regulated recruitment of HP1 to a euchromatic gene induces mitotically heritable, epigenetic gene silencing: a mammalian cell culture model of gene variegation. Genes Dev. 17 (15), 1855–1869.
- Balada, E., Ordi-Ros, J., Vilardell-Tarres, M., 2009. Molecular mechanisms mediated by human endogenous retroviruses (HERVs) in autoimmunity. Rev. Med. Virol. 19 (5), 273–286.
- Bannert, N., Kurth, R., 2004. Retroelements and the human genome: new perspectives on an old relation. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 101 (Suppl 2), 14572–14579.
- Bannister, A.J., Zegerman, P., Partridge, J.F., Miska, E.A., Thomas, J.O., Allshire, R.C., Kouzarides, T., 2001. Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. Nature 410 (6824), 120–124.
- Barklis, E., Mulligan, R.C., Jaenisch, R., 1986. Chromosomal position or virus mutation permits retrovirus expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell 47 (3), 391–399.
- Beck, C.R., Collier, P., Macfarlane, C., Malig, M., Kidd, J.M., Eichler, E.E., Badge, R.M., Moran, J.V., 2010. LINE-1 retrotransposition activity in human genomes. Cell 141 (7), 1159–1170.
- Beckstead, R.B., Ner, S.S., Hales, K.G., Grigliatti, T.A., Baker, B.S., Bellen, H.J., 2005. Bonus, a Drosophila TIF1 homolog, is a chromatin-associated protein that acts as a modifier of position-effect variegation. Genetics 169 (2), 783–794.
- Belshaw, R., Dawson, A.L., Woolven-Allen, J., Redding, J., Burt, A., Tristem, M., 2005. Genomewide screening reveals high levels of insertional polymorphism in the human endogenous retrovirus family HERV-K(HML2): implications for presentday activity. J. Virol. 79 (19), 12507–12514.
- Best, S., Le Tissier, P., Towers, G., Stoye, J.P., 1996. Positional cloning of the mouse retrovirus restriction gene Fv1. Nature 382 (6594), 826–829.
- Bestor, T., Laudano, A., Mattaliano, R., Ingram, V., 1988. Cloning and sequencing of a cDNA encoding DNA methyltransferase of mouse cells. The carboxyl-terminal domain of the mammalian enzymes is related to bacterial restriction methyltransferases. J. Mol. Biol. 203 (4), 971–983.
- Bestor, T.H., 1988. Cloning of a mammalian DNA methyltransferase. Gene 74 (1), 9-12.
- Bhutani, N., Brady, J.J., Damian, M., Sacco, A., Corbel, S.Y., Blau, H.M., 2010. Reprogramming towards pluripotency requires AID-dependent DNA demethylation. Nature 463 (7284), 1042–1047.
- Bilodeau, S., Kagey, M.H., Frampton, G.M., Rahl, P.B., Young, R.A., 2009. SetDB1 contributes to repression of genes encoding developmental regulators and maintenance of ES cell state. Genes Dev. 23 (21), 2484–2489.
- Birtle, Z., Ponting, C.P., 2006. Meisetz and the birth of the KRAB motif. Bioinformatics 22 (23), 2841–2845.
- Blaise, S., de Parseval, N., Benit, L., Heidmann, T., 2003. Genomewide screening for fusogenic human endogenous retrovirus envelopes identifies syncytin 2, a gene conserved on primate evolution. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 100 (22), 13013–13018.
- Blaise, S., de Parseval, N., Heidmann, T., 2005. Functional characterization of two newly identified Human Endogenous Retrovirus coding envelope genes. Retrovirology 2, 19.
- Blomberg, J., Benachenhou, F., Blikstad, V., Sperber, G., Mayer, J., 2009. Classification and nomenclature of endogenous retroviral sequences (ERVs): problems and recommendations. Gene 448 (2), 115–123.
- Blond, J.L., Lavillette, D., Cheynet, V., Bouton, O., Oriol, G., Chapel-Fernandes, S., Mandrand, B., Mallet, F., Cosset, F.L., 2000. An envelope glycoprotein of the human endogenous retrovirus HERV-W is expressed in the human placenta and fuses cells expressing the type D mammalian retrovirus receptor. J. Virol. 74 (7), 3321–3329.
- Bostick, M., Kim, J.K., Esteve, P.O., Clark, A., Pradhan, S., Jacobsen, S.E., 2007. UHRF1 plays a role in maintaining DNA methylation in mammalian cells. Science 317 (5845), 1760–1764.
- Bourc'his, D., Voinnet, O., 2010. A small-RNA perspective on gametogenesis, fertilization, and early zygotic development. Science 330 (6004), 617–622.
- Brady, T., Lee, Y.N., Ronen, K., Malani, N., Berry, C.C., Bieniasz, P.D., Bushman, F.D., 2009. Integration target site selection by a resurrected human endogenous retrovirus. Genes Dev. 23 (5), 633–642.
- Brennecke, J., Aravin, A.A., Stark, A., Dus, M., Kellis, M., Sachidanandam, R., Hannon, G.J., 2007. Discrete small RNA-generating loci as master regulators of transposon activity in Drosophila. Cell 128 (6), 1089–1103.
- Brower-Toland, B., Findley, S.D., Jiang, L., Liu, L., Yin, H., Dus, M., Zhou, P., Elgin, S.C., Lin, H., 2007. *Drosophila* PIWI associates with chromatin and interacts directly with HP1a. Genes Dev. 21 (18), 2300–2311.

- Brunmeir, R., Lagger, S., Simboeck, E., Sawicka, A., Egger, G., Hagelkruys, A., Zhang, Y., Matthias, P., Miller, W.J., Seiser, C., 2010. Epigenetic regulation of a murine retrotransposon by a dual histone modification mark. PLoS Genet. 6 (4), e1000927.
- Cammas, F., Herzog, M., Lerouge, T., Chambon, P., Losson, R., 2004. Association of the transcriptional corepressor TIF1beta with heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1): an essential role for progression through differentiation. Genes Dev. 18 (17), 2147–2160.
- Cammas, F., Mark, M., Dolle, P., Dierich, A., Chambon, P., Losson, R., 2000. Mice lacking the transcriptional corepressor TIF1beta are defective in early postimplantation development. Development 127 (13), 2955–2963.
- Carlson, L.L., Page, A.W., Bestor, T.H., 1992. Properties and localization of DNA methyltransferase in preimplantation mouse embryos: implications for genomic imprinting. Genes Dev. 6 (12B), 2536–2541.
- Carmell, M.A., Girard, A., van de Kant, H.J., Bourc'his, D., Bestor, T.H., de Rooij, D.G., Hannon, G.J., 2007. MIWI2 is essential for spermatogenesis and repression of transposons in the mouse male germline. Dev. Cell 12 (4), 503–514.
- Cedar, H., Bergman, Y., 2009. Linking DNA methylation and histone modification: patterns and paradigms. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10 (5), 295–304.
- Chang, P.C., Fitzgerald, L.D., Van Geelen, A., Izumiya, Y., Ellison, T.J., Wang, D.H., Ann, D.K., Luciw, P.A., Kung, H.J., 2009. Kruppel-associated box domain-associated protein-1 as a latency regulator for Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and its modulation by the viral protein kinase. Cancer Res. 69 (14), 5681–5689.
- Chedin, F., Lieber, M.R., Hsieh, C.L., 2002. The DNA methyltransferase-like protein DNMT3L stimulates *de novo* methylation by Dnmt3a. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 99 (26), 16916–16921.
- Chen, W.Y., Townes, T.M., 2000. Molecular mechanism for silencing virally transduced genes involves histone deacetylation and chromatin condensation. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 97 (1), 377–382.
- Chiu, Y.L., Greene, W.C., 2008. The APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases: an innate defensive network opposing exogenous retroviruses and endogenous retroelements. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 26, 317–353.
- Chow, J.C., Ciaudo, C., Fazzari, M.J., Mise, N., Servant, N., Glass, J.L., Attreed, M., Avner, P., Wutz, A., Barillot, E., Greally, J.M., Voinnet, O., Heard, E., 2010. LINE-1 activity in facultative heterochromatin formation during X chromosome inactivation. Cell 141 (6), 956–969.
- Colicelli, J., Goff, S.P., 1986. Isolation of a recombinant murine leukemia virus utilizing a new primer tRNA. J. Virol. 57 (1), 37–45.
- Coufal, N.G., Garcia-Perez, J.L., Peng, G.E., Yeo, G.W., Mu, Y., Lovci, M.T., Morell, M., O'Shea, K.S., Moran, J.V., Gage, F.H., 2009. L1 retrotransposition in human neural progenitor cells. Nature 460 (7259), 1127–1131.
- De La Fuente, R., Baumann, C., Fan, T., Schmidtmann, A., Dobrinski, I., Muegge, K., 2006. Lsh is required for meiotic chromosome synapsis and retrotransposon silencing in female germ cells. Nat. Cell Biol. 8 (12), 1448–1454.
- de Parseval, N., Lazar, V., Casella, J.F., Benit, L., Heidmann, T., 2003. Survey of human genes of retroviral origin: identification and transcriptome of the genes with coding capacity for complete envelope proteins. J. Virol. 77 (19), 10414–10422.
- Dekker, J., 2008. Gene regulation in the third dimension. Science 319 (5871), 1793–1794. Deng, W., Lin, H., 2002. Miwi, a murine homolog of piwi, encodes a cytoplasmic protein essential for spermatogenesis. Dev. Cell 2 (6), 819–830.
- Dennis, K., Fan, T., Geiman, T., Yan, Q., Muegge, K., 2001. Lsh, a member of the SNF2 family, is required for genome-wide methylation. Genes Dev. 15 (22), 2940–2944.
- Dewannieux, M., Dupressoir, A., Harper, F., Pierron, G., Heidmann, T., 2004. Identification of autonomous IAP LTR retrotransposons mobile in mammalian cells. Nat. Genet. 36 (5), 534–539.
- Dodge, J.E., Kang, Y.K., Beppu, H., Lei, H., Li, E., 2004. Histone H3-K9 methyltransferase ESET is essential for early development. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24 (6), 2478–2486.
- Dong, K.B., Maksakova, I.A., Mohn, F., Leung, D., Appanah, R., Lee, S., Yang, H.W., Lam, L.L., Mager, D.L., Schubeler, D., Tachibana, M., Shinkai, Y., Lorincz, M.C., 2008. DNA methylation in ES cells requires the lysine methyltransferase G9a but not its catalytic activity. EMBO J. 27 (20), 2691–2701.
- Duhl, D.M., Vrieling, H., Miller, K.A., Wolff, G.L., Barsh, G.S., 1994. Neomorphic agouti mutations in obese yellow mice. Nat. Genet. 8 (1), 59–65.
- Dupressoir, A., Vernochet, C., Bawa, O., Harper, F., Pierron, G., Opolon, P., Heidmann, T., 2009. Syncytin-A knockout mice demonstrate the critical role in placentation of a fusogenic, endogenous retrovirus-derived, envelope gene. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 106 (29), 12127–12132.
- Emerson, R.O., Thomas, J.H., 2009. Adaptive evolution in zinc finger transcription factors. PLoS Genet. 5 (1), e1000325.
- Epsztejn-Litman, S., Feldman, N., Abu-Remaileh, M., Shufaro, Y., Gerson, A., Ueda, J., Deplus, R., Fuks, F., Shinkai, Y., Cedar, H., Bergman, Y., 2008. *De novo* DNA methylation promoted by G9a prevents reprogramming of embryonically silenced genes. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15 (11), 1176–1183.
- Esnault, C., Heidmann, O., Delebecque, F., Dewannieux, M., Ribet, D., Hance, A.J., Heidmann, T., Schwartz, O., 2005. APOBEC3G cytidine deaminase inhibits retrotransposition of endogenous retroviruses. Nature 433 (7024), 430–433.
- Feldman, N., Gerson, A., Fang, J., Li, E., Zhang, Y., Shinkai, Y., Cedar, H., Bergman, Y., 2006. G9a-mediated irreversible epigenetic inactivation of Oct-3/4 during early embryogenesis. Nat. Cell Biol. 8 (2), 188–194.
- Feng, S., Cokus, S.J., Zhang, X., Chen, P.Y., Bostick, M., Goll, M.G., Hetzel, J., Jain, J., Strauss, S.H., Halpern, M.E., Ukomadu, C., Sadler, K.C., Pradhan, S., Pellegrini, M., Jacobsen, S.E., 2010a. Conservation and divergence of methylation patterning in plants and animals. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 107 (19), 8689–8694.
- Feng, S., Jacobsen, S.E., Reik, W., 2010b. Epigenetic reprogramming in plant and animal development. Science 330 (6004), 622–627.
- Ferguson-Smith, A.C., Greally, J.M., 2007. Epigenetics: perceptive enzymes. Nature 449 (7159), 148–149.

- Feuer, G., Taketo, M., Hanecak, R.C., Fan, H., 1989. Two blocks in Moloney murine leukemia virus expression in undifferentiated F9 embryonal carcinoma cells as determined by transient expression assays. J. Virol. 63 (5), 2317–2324.
- determined by transient expression assays. J. Virol. 63 (5), 2317–2324. Filion, G.J., van Bemmel, J.G., Braunschweig, U., Talhout, W., Kind, J., Ward, L.D., Brugman, W., de Castro, I.J., Kerkhoven, R.M., Bussemaker, H.J., van Steensel, B., 2010. Systematic protein location mapping reveals five principal chromatin types in *Drosophila* cells. Cell 143 (2), 212–224.
- Fraser, P., Bickmore, W., 2007. Nuclear organization of the genome and the potential for gene regulation. Nature 447 (7143), 413–417.
- Freitag, M., Selker, E.U., 2005. Controlling DNA methylation: many roads to one modification. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 15 (2), 191–199.
- Friedli, M., Nikolaev, S., Lyle, R., Arcangeli, M., Dubule, D., Spitz, F., Antonarakis, S.E., 2008. Characterization of mouse Dactylaplasia mutations: a model for human ectrodactyly SHFM3. Mamm. Genome 19 (4), 272–278.
- Fuks, F., Hurd, P.J., Deplus, R., Kouzarides, T., 2003. The DNA methyltransferases associate with HP1 and the SUV39H1 histone methyltransferase. Nucleic Acids Res. 31 (9), 2305–2312.
- Gao, X., Hou, Y., Ebina, H., Levin, H.L., Voytas, D.F., 2008. Chromodomains direct integration of retrotransposons to heterochromatin. Genome Res. 18 (3), 359–369.
- Garcia-Perez, J.L., Marchetto, M.C., Muotri, A.R., Coufal, N.G., Gage, F.H., O'Shea, K.S., Moran, J.V., 2007. LINE-1 retrotransposition in human embryonic stem cells. Hum. Mol. Genet. 16 (13), 1569–1577.
- Garcia-Perez, J.L., Morell, M., Scheys, J.O., Kulpa, D.A., Morell, S., Carter, C.C., Hammer, G.D., Collins, K.L., O'Shea, K.S., Menendez, P., Moran, J.V., 2010. Epigenetic silencing of engineered L1 retrotransposition events in human embryonic carcinoma cells. Nature 466 (7307), 769–773.
- Gasior, S.L., Roy-Engel, A.M., Deininger, P.L., 2008. ERCC1/XPF limits L1 retrotransposition. DNA Repair (Amst) 7 (6), 983–989.
- Gaudet, F., Rideout III, W.M., Meissner, A., Dausman, J., Leonhardt, H., Jaenisch, R., 2004. Dnmt1 expression in pre- and postimplantation embryogenesis and the maintenance of IAP silencing. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24 (4), 1640–1648.
- Gautsch, J.W., Wilson, M.C., 1983. Delayed *de novo* methylation in teratocarcinoma suggests additional tissue-specific mechanisms for controlling gene expression. Nature 301 (5895), 32–37.
- Gifford, R., Tristem, M., 2003. The evolution, distribution and diversity of endogenous retroviruses. Virus Genes 26 (3), 291–315.
- Gifford, R.J., Katzourakis, A., Tristem, M., Pybus, O.G., Winters, M., Shafer, R.W., 2008. A transitional endogenous lentivirus from the genome of a basal primate and implications for lentivirus evolution. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 105 (51), 20362–20367.
- Gilbert, C., Maxfield, D.G., Goodman, S.M., Feschotte, C., 2009. Parallel germline infiltration of a lentivirus in two Malagasy lemurs. PLoS Genet. 5 (3), e1000425.
- Girard, A., Sachidanandam, R., Hannon, G.J., Carmell, M.A., 2006. A germline-specific class of small RNAs binds mammalian Piwi proteins. Nature 442 (7099), 199–202.
- Glass, J.L., Fazzari, M.J., Ferguson-Smith, A.C., Greally, J.M., 2009. CG dinucleotide periodicities recognized by the DNMT3a–DNMT3L complex are distinctive at retroelements and imprinted domains. Mamm. Genome 20 (9–10), 633–643.
- Golding, M.C., Zhang, L., Mann, M.R., 2010. Multiple epigenetic modifiers induce aggressive viral extinction in extraembryonic endoderm stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 6 (5), 457–467.
- Goll, M.G., Kirpekar, F., Maggert, K.A., Yoder, J.A., Hsieh, C.L., Zhang, X., Golic, K.G., Jacobsen, S.E., Bestor, T.H., 2006. Methylation of tRNAAsp by the DNA methyltransferase homolog Dnmt2. Science 311 (5759), 395–398.
- Goodier, J.L., Kazazian Jr., H.H., 2008. Retrotransposons revisited: the restraint and rehabilitation of parasites. Cell 135 (1), 23–35.
- Groner, A.C., Meylan, S., Ciuffi, A., Zangger, N., Ambrosini, G., Denervaud, N., Bucher, P., Trono, D., 2010. KRAB-zinc finger proteins and KAP1 can mediate long-range transcriptional repression through heterochromatin spreading. PLoS Genet. 6 (3), e1000869.
- Gunawardane, L.S., Saito, K., Nishida, K.M., Miyoshi, K., Kawamura, Y., Nagami, T., Siomi, H., Siomi, M.C., 2007. A slicer-mediated mechanism for repeat-associated siRNA 5' end formation in *Drosophila*. Science 315 (5818), 1587–1590.
- Haas, D.L., Lutzko, C., Logan, A.C., Cho, G.J., Skelton, D., Jin Yu, X., Pepper, K.A., Kohn, D.B., 2003. The Moloney murine leukemia virus repressor binding site represses expression in murine and human hematopoietic stem cells. J. Virol. 77 (17), 9439–9450.
- Hajkova, P., Erhardt, S., Lane, N., Haaf, T., El-Maarri, O., Reik, W., Walter, J., Surani, M.A., 2002. Epigenetic reprogramming in mouse primordial germ cells. Mech. Dev. 117 (1–2), 15–23.
- Hamilton, A.T., Huntley, S., Tran-Gyamfi, M., Baggott, D.M., Gordon, L., Stubbs, L., 2006. Evolutionary expansion and divergence in the ZNF91 subfamily of primate-specific zinc finger genes. Genome Res. 16 (5), 584–594.
- Hanna, J.H., Saha, K., Jaenisch, R., 2010. Pluripotency and cellular reprogramming: facts, hypotheses, unresolved issues. Cell 143 (4), 508–525.
- Hirasawa, R., Chiba, H., Kaneda, M., Tajima, S., Li, E., Jaenisch, R., Sasaki, H., 2008. Maternal and zygotic Dnmt1 are necessary and sufficient for the maintenance of DNA methylation imprints during preimplantation development. Genes Dev. 22 (12), 1607–1616.
- Howlett, S.K., Reik, W., 1991. Methylation levels of maternal and paternal genomes during preimplantation development. Development 113 (1), 119–127.
- Huang, J., Fan, T., Yan, Q., Zhu, H., Fox, S., Issaq, H.J., Best, L., Gangi, L., Munroe, D., Muegge, K., 2004. Lsh, an epigenetic guardian of repetitive elements. Nucleic Acids Res. 32 (17), 5019–5028.
- Huntley, S., Baggott, D.M., Hamilton, A.T., Tran-Gyamfi, M., Yang, S., Kim, J., Gordon, L., Branscomb, E., Stubbs, L., 2006. A comprehensive catalog of human KRABassociated zinc finger genes: insights into the evolutionary history of a large family of transcriptional repressors. Genome Res. 16 (5), 669–677.

- Huthoff, H., Towers, G.J., 2008. Restriction of retroviral replication by APOBEC3G/F and TRIM5alpha. Trends Microbiol. 16 (12), 612–619.
- Ivanov, A.V., Peng, H., Yurchenko, V., Yap, K.L., Negorev, D.G., Schultz, D.C., Psulkowski, E., Fredericks, W.J., White, D.E., Maul, G.G., Sadofsky, M.J., Zhou, M.M., Rauscher III, F.J., 2007. PHD domain-mediated E3 ligase activity directs intramolecular sumoylation of an adjacent bromodomain required for gene silencing. Mol. Cell 28 (5), 823–837.
- Jackson, J.P., Lindroth, A.M., Cao, X., Jacobsen, S.E., 2002. Control of CpNpG DNA methylation by the KRYPTONITE histone H3 methyltransferase. Nature 416 (6880), 556–560.
- Jacob, Y., Stroud, H., Leblanc, C., Feng, S., Zhuo, L., Caro, E., Hassel, C., Gutierrez, C., Michaels, S.D., Jacobsen, S.E., 2010. Regulation of heterochromatic DNA replication by histone H3 lysine 27 methyltransferases. Nature 466 (7309), 987–991.
- Jahner, D., Stuhlmann, H., Stewart, C.L., Harbers, K., Lohler, J., Simon, I., Jaenisch, R., 1982. *De novo* methylation and expression of retroviral genomes during mouse embryogenesis. Nature 298 (5875), 623–628.
- Jern, P., Coffin, J.M., 2008. Effects of retroviruses on host genome function. Annu. Rev. Genet. 42, 709–732.
- Jia, D., Jurkowska, R.Z., Zhang, X., Jeltsch, A., Cheng, X., 2007. Structure of Dnmt3a bound to Dnmt3L suggests a model for *de novo* DNA methylation. Nature 449 (7159), 248–251.
- Jones, P.L., Veenstra, G.J., Wade, P.A., Vermaak, D., Kass, S.U., Landsberger, N., Strouboulis, J., Wolffe, A.P., 1998. Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Nat. Genet. 19 (2), 187–191.
- Jurka, J., 2000. Repbase update: a database and an electronic journal of repetitive elements. Trends Genet. 16 (9), 418–420.
- Jurka, J., Kapitonov, V.V., Pavlicek, A., Klonowski, P., Kohany, O., Walichiewicz, J., 2005. Repbase Update, a database of eukaryotic repetitive elements. Cytogenet. Genome Res. 110 (1–4), 462–467.
- Kaiser, S.M., Malik, H.S., Emerman, M., 2007. Restriction of an extinct retrovirus by the human TRIM5alpha antiviral protein. Science 316 (5832), 1756–1758.
- Kaneda, M., Okano, M., Hata, K., Sado, T., Tsujimoto, N., Li, E., Sasaki, H., 2004. Essential role for *de novo* DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a in paternal and maternal imprinting. Nature 429 (6994), 900–903.
- Kano, H., Godoy, I., Courtney, C., Vetter, M.R., Gerton, G.L., Ostertag, E.M., Kazazian Jr., H.H., 2009. L1 retrotransposition occurs mainly in embryogenesis and creates somatic mosaicism. Genes Dev. 23 (11), 1303–1312.
- Kano, H., Kurahashi, H., Toda, T., 2007. Genetically regulated epigenetic transcriptional activation of retrotransposon insertion confers mouse dactylaplasia phenotype. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 104 (48), 19034–19039.
- Kato, Y., Kaneda, M., Hata, K., Kumaki, K., Hisano, M., Kohara, Y., Okano, M., Li, E., Nozaki, M., Sasaki, H., 2007. Role of the Dnmt3 family in *de novo* methylation of imprinted and repetitive sequences during male germ cell development in the mouse. Hum. Mol. Genet. 16 (19), 2272–2280.
- Katzourakis, A., Gifford, R.J., Tristem, M., Gilbert, M.T., Pybus, O.G., 2009. Macroevolution of complex retroviruses. Science 325 (5947), 1512.
- Katzourakis, A., Tristem, M., Pybus, O.G., Gifford, R.J., 2007. Discovery and analysis of the first endogenous lentivirus. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 104 (15), 6261–6265.
- Keckesova, Z., Ylinen, L.M., Towers, G.J., Gifford, R.J., Katzourakis, A., 2009. Identification of a RELIK orthologue in the European hare (Lepus europaeus) reveals a minimum age of 12 million years for the lagomorph lentiviruses. Virology 384 (1), 7–11.
- Kempler, G., Freitag, B., Berwin, B., Nanassy, O., Barklis, E., 1993. Characterization of the Moloney murine leukemia virus stem cell-specific repressor binding site. Virology 193 (2), 690–699.
- Kidwell, M.G., 2002. Transposable elements and the evolution of genome size in eukaryotes. Genetica 115 (1), 49–63.
- Kigami, D., Minami, N., Takayama, H., Imai, H., 2003. MuERV-L is one of the earliest transcribed genes in mouse one-cell embryos. Biol. Reprod. 68 (2), 651–654.
- Kim, F.J., Battini, J.L., Manel, N., Sitbon, M., 2004. Emergence of vertebrate retroviruses and envelope capture. Virology 318 (1), 183–191.
- Kim, J.K., Esteve, P.O., Jacobsen, S.E., Pradhan, S., 2009. UHRF1 binds G9a and participates in p21 transcriptional regulation in mammalian cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 37 (2), 493–505.
- Kourmouli, N., Jeppesen, P., Mahadevhaiah, S., Burgoyne, P., Wu, R., Gilbert, D.M., Bongiorni, S., Prantera, G., Fanti, L., Pimpinelli, S., Shi, W., Fundele, R., Singh, P.B., 2004. Heterochromatin and tri-methylated lysine 20 of histone H4 in animals. J. Cell Sci. 117 (Pt 12), 2491–2501.
- Kunarso, G., Chia, N.Y., Jeyakani, J., Hwang, C., Lu, X., Chan, Y.S., Ng, H.H., Bourque, G., 2010. Transposable elements have rewired the core regulatory network of human embryonic stem cells. Nat. Genet. 42 (7), 631–634.
- Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Watanabe, T., Gotoh, K., Totoki, Y., Toyoda, A., Ikawa, M., Asada, N., Kojima, K., Yamaguchi, Y., Ijiri, T.W., Hata, K., Li, E., Matsuda, Y., Kimura, T., Okabe, M., Sakaki, Y., Sasaki, H., Nakano, T., 2008. DNA methylation of retrotransposon genes is regulated by Piwi family members MILI and MIWI2 in murine fetal testes. Genes Dev. 22 (7), 908–917.
- Kurth, R., Bannert, N., 2010. Beneficial and detrimental effects of human endogenous retroviruses. Int. J. Cancer 126 (2), 306–314.
- Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., Jenuwein, T., 2001. Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature 410 (6824), 116–120.
- Lander, E.S., et al., 2001. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409 (6822), 860–921.
- Lane, N., Dean, W., Erhardt, S., Hajkova, P., Surani, A., Walter, J., Reik, W., 2003. Resistance of IAPs to methylation reprogramming may provide a mechanism for epigenetic inheritance in the mouse. Genesis 35 (2), 88–93.

- Law, J.A., Jacobsen, S.E., 2010. Establishing, maintaining and modifying DNA methylation patterns in plants and animals. Nat. Rev. Genet. 11 (3), 204–220.
- Lee, J., Inoue, K., Ono, R., Ogonuki, N., Kohda, T., Kaneko-Ishino, T., Ogura, A., Ishino, F., 2002. Erasing genomic imprinting memory in mouse clone embryos produced from day 11.5 primordial germ cells. Development 129 (8), 1807–1817.
- Leeb, M., Pasini, D., Novatchkova, M., Jaritz, M., Helin, K., Wutz, A., 2010. Polycomb complexes act redundantly to repress genomic repeats and genes. Genes Dev. 24 (3), 265–276.
- Lees-Murdock, DJ., De Felici, M., Walsh, C.P., 2003. Methylation dynamics of repetitive DNA elements in the mouse germ cell lineage. Genomics 82 (2), 230–237.
- Lehnertz, B., Ueda, Y., Derijck, A.A., Braunschweig, U., Perez-Burgos, L., Kubicek, S., Chen, T., Li, E., Jenuwein, T., Peters, A.H., 2003. Suv39h-mediated histone H3 lysine 9 methylation directs DNA methylation to major satellite repeats at pericentric heterochromatin. Curr. Biol. 13 (14), 1192–1200.
- Li, H., Rauch, T., Chen, Z.X., Szabo, P.E., Riggs, A.D., Pfeifer, G.P., 2006. The histone methyltransferase SETDB1 and the DNA methyltransferase DNMT3A interact directly and localize to promoters silenced in cancer cells. J. Biol. Chem. 281 (28), 19489–19500.
- Li, X., Ito, M., Zhou, F., Youngson, N., Zuo, X., Leder, P., Ferguson-Smith, A.C., 2008. A maternal-zygotic effect gene, Zfp57, maintains both maternal and paternal imprints. Dev. Cell 15 (4), 547–557.
- Li, X., Lee, Y.K., Jeng, J.C., Yen, Y., Schultz, D.C., Shih, H.M., Ann, D.K., 2007. Role for KAP1 serine 824 phosphorylation and sumoylation/desumoylation switch in regulating KAP1-mediated transcriptional repression. J. Biol. Chem. 282 (50), 36177–36189.
- Li, X., Lin, H.H., Chen, H., Xu, X., Shih, H.M., Ann, D.K., 2010. SUMOylation of the transcriptional co-repressor KAP1 is regulated by the serine and threonine phosphatase PP1. Sci. Signal. 3 (119), ra32.
- Linney, E., Davis, B., Overhauser, J., Chao, E., Fan, H., 1984. Non-function of a Moloney murine leukaemia virus regulatory sequence in F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. Nature 308 (5958), 470–472.
- Lister, R., Pelizzola, M., Dowen, R.H., Hawkins, R.D., Hon, G., Tonti-Filippini, J., Nery, J.R., Lee, L., Ye, Z., Ngo, Q.M., Edsall, L., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Stewart, R., Ruotti, V., Millar, A.H., Thomson, J.A., Ren, B., Ecker, J.R., 2009. Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. Nature 462 (7271), 315–322.
- Litman, G.W., Rast, J.P., Fugmann, S.D., 2010. The origins of vertebrate adaptive immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10 (8), 543–553.
- Loebel, D.A., Tsoi, B., Wong, N., O'Rourke, M.P., Tam, P.P., 2004. Restricted expression of ETn-related sequences during post-implantation mouse development. Gene Expr. Patterns 4 (4), 467–471.
- Loh, T.P., Sievert, L.L., Scott, R.W., 1987. Proviral sequences that restrict retroviral expression in mouse embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 7 (10), 3775–3784.
- Loh, T.P., Sievert, L.L., Scott, R.W., 1990. Evidence for a stem cell-specific repressor of Moloney murine leukemia virus expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10 (8), 4045–4057.
- Lorincz, M.C., Schubeler, D., Goeke, S.C., Walters, M., Groudine, M., Martin, D.I., 2000. Dynamic analysis of proviral induction and *de novo* methylation: implications for a histone deacetylase-independent, methylation density-dependent mechanism of transcriptional repression. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20 (3), 842–850.
- Lueders, K.K., Kuff, E.L., 1977. Sequences associated with intracisternal A particles are reiterated in the mouse genome. Cell 12 (4), 963–972.
- Macfarlane, C., Simmonds, P., 2004. Allelic variation of HERV-K(HML-2) endogenous retroviral elements in human populations. J. Mol. Evol. 59 (5), 642–656.
- Macia, A., Munoz-Lopez, M., Cortes, J.L., Hastings, R.K., Morell, S., Lucena-Aguilar, G., Marchal, J.A., Badge, R.M., Garcia-Perez, J.L., 2011. Epigenetic control of retrotransposon expression in human embryonic stem cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 3 (2), 300–316.
- Mackay, D.J., Callaway, J.L., Marks, S.M., White, H.E., Acerini, C.L., Boonen, S.E., Dayanikli, P., Firth, H.V., Goodship, J.A., Haemers, A.P., Hahnemann, J.M., Kordonouri, O., Masoud, A.F., Oestergaard, E., Storr, J., Ellard, S., Hattersley, A.T., Robinson, D.O., Temple, I.K., 2008. Hypomethylation of multiple imprinted loci in individuals with transient neonatal diabetes is associated with mutations in ZFP57. Nat. Genet. 40 (8), 949–951.
- Maksakova, I.A., Romanish, M.T., Gagnier, L., Dunn, C.A., van de Lagemaat, L.N., Mager, D.L., 2006. Retroviral elements and their hosts: insertional mutagenesis in the mouse germ line. PLoS Genet. 2 (1), e2.
- Malik, H.S., Henikoff, S., Eickbush, T.H., 2000. Poised for contagion: evolutionary origins of the infectious abilities of invertebrate retroviruses. Genome Res. 10 (9), 1307–1318.
- Manel, N., Hogstad, B., Wang, Y., Levy, D.E., Unutmaz, D., Littman, D.R., 2010. A cryptic sensor for HIV-1 activates antiviral innate immunity in dendritic cells. Nature 467 (7312), 214–217.
- Martens, J.H., O'Sullivan, R.J., Braunschweig, U., Opravil, S., Radolf, M., Steinlein, P., Jenuwein, T., 2005. The profile of repeat-associated histone lysine methylation states in the mouse epigenome. EMBO J. 24 (4), 800–812.
- Matsui, T., Leung, D., Miyashita, H., Maksakova, I.A., Miyachi, H., Kimura, H., Tachibana, M., Lorincz, M.C., Shinkai, Y., 2010. Proviral silencing in embryonic stem cells requires the histone methyltransferase ESET. Nature 464 (7290), 927–931.
- Medstrand, P., van de Lagemaat, L.N., Mager, D.L., 2002. Retroelement distributions in the human genome: variations associated with age and proximity to genes. Genome Res. 12 (10), 1483–1495.
- Meilinger, D., Fellinger, K., Bultmann, S., Rothbauer, U., Bonapace, I.M., Klinkert, W.E., Spada, F., Leonhardt, H., 2009. Np95 interacts with *de novo* DNA methyltransferases, Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b, and mediates epigenetic silencing of the viral CMV promoter in embryonic stem cells. EMBO Rep. 10 (11), 1259–1264.

- Meissner, A., Mikkelsen, T.S., Gu, H., Wernig, M., Hanna, J., Sivachenko, A., Zhang, X., Bernstein, B.E., Nusbaum, C., Jaffe, D.B., Gnirke, A., Jaenisch, R., Lander, E.S., 2008. Genome-scale DNA methylation maps of pluripotent and differentiated cells. Nature 454 (7205), 766–770.
- Meylan, S., Trono, D., 2009. Innate immunity against retroviral pathogens: from an ambiguous genetic self to novel therapeutic approaches. Swiss Med. Wkly 139 (49–50), 706–711.
- Michaud, E.J., van Vugt, M.J., Bultman, S.J., Sweet, H.O., Davisson, M.T., Woychik, R.P., 1994. Differential expression of a new dominant agouti allele (Aiapy) is correlated with methylation state and is influenced by parental lineage. Genes Dev. 8 (12), 1463–1472.
- Mikkelsen, T.S., Ku, M., Jaffe, D.B., Issac, B., Lieberman, E., Giannoukos, G., Alvarez, P., Brockman, W., Kim, T.K., Koche, R.P., Lee, W., Mendenhall, E., O'Donovan, A., Presser, A., Russ, C., Xie, X., Meissner, A., Wernig, M., Jaenisch, R., Nusbaum, C., Lander, E.S., Bernstein, B.E., 2007. Genome-wide maps of chromatin state in pluripotent and lineage-committed cells. Nature 448 (7153), 553–560.
- Modin, C., Lund, A.H., Schmitz, A., Duch, M., Pedersen, F.S., 2000. Alleviation of murine leukemia virus repression in embryonic carcinoma cells by genetically engineered primer binding sites and artificial tRNA primers. Virology 278 (2), 368–379.
- Mohn, F., Weber, M., Rebhan, M., Roloff, T.C., Richter, J., Stadler, M.B., Bibel, M., Schubeler, D., 2008. Lineage-specific polycomb targets and *de novo* DNA methylation define restriction and potential of neuronal progenitors. Mol. Cell 30 (6), 755–766.
- Morgan, H.D., Santos, F., Green, K., Dean, W., Reik, W., 2005. Epigenetic reprogramming in mammals. Hum. Mol. Genet. 14 (Spec No 1), R47–R58.
- Morgan, H.D., Sutherland, H.G., Martin, D.I., Whitelaw, E., 1999. Epigenetic inheritance at the agouti locus in the mouse. Nat. Genet. 23 (3), 314–318.
- Moyes, D., Griffiths, D.J., Venables, P.J., 2007. Insertional polymorphisms: a new lease of life for endogenous retroviruses in human disease. Trends Genet. 23 (7), 326–333.
- Muotri, A.R., Chu, V.T., Marchetto, M.C., Deng, W., Moran, J.V., Gage, F.H., 2005. Somatic mosaicism in neuronal precursor cells mediated by L1 retrotransposition. Nature 435 (7044), 903–910.
- Muotri, A.R., Marchetto, M.C., Coufal, N.G., Oefner, R., Yeo, G., Nakashima, K., Gage, F.H., 2010. L1 retrotransposition in neurons is modulated by MeCP2. Nature 468 (7322), 443–446.
- Nakamura, T., Arai, Y., Umehara, H., Masuhara, M., Kimura, T., Taniguchi, H., Sekimoto, T., Ikawa, M., Yoneda, Y., Okabe, M., Tanaka, S., Shiota, K., Nakano, T., 2007. PGC7/ Stella protects against DNA demethylation in early embryogenesis. Nat. Cell Biol. 9 (1), 64–71.
- Nan, X., Ng, H.H., Johnson, C.A., Laherty, C.D., Turner, B.M., Eisenman, R.N., Bird, A., 1998. Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. Nature 393 (6683), 386–389.
- Niwa, O., Yokota, Y., Ishida, H., Sugahara, T., 1983. Independent mechanisms involved in suppression of the Moloney leukemia virus genome during differentiation of murine teratocarcinoma cells. Cell 32 (4), 1105–1113.
- O'Geen, H., Squazzo, S.L., Iyengar, S., Blahnik, K., Rinn, J.L., Chang, H.Y., Green, R., Farnham, P.J., 2007. Genome-wide analysis of KAP1 binding suggests autoregulation of KRAB-ZNFs. PLoS Genet. 3 (6), e89.
- Okano, M., Bell, D.W., Haber, D.A., Li, E., 1999. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for *de novo* methylation and mammalian development. Cell 99 (3), 247–257.
- Okano, M., Xie, S., Li, E., 1998. Dnmt2 is not required for *de novo* and maintenance methylation of viral DNA in embryonic stem cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 26 (11), 2536–2540.
- Okita, K., Ichisaka, T., Yamanaka, S., 2007. Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 448 (7151), 313–317.
- Okitsu, C.Y., Hsieh, C.L., 2007. DNA methylation dictates histone H3K4 methylation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 27 (7), 2746–2757.
- Ollinger, R., Childs, A.J., Burgess, H.M., Speed, R.M., Lundegaard, P.R., Reynolds, N., Gray, N.K., Cooke, H.J., Adams, I.R., 2008. Deletion of the pluripotency-associated Tex19.1 gene causes activation of endogenous retroviruses and defective spermatogenesis in mice. PLoS Genet. 4 (9), e1000199.
- Ono, M., Kawakami, M., Ushikubo, H., 1987. Stimulation of expression of the human endogenous retrovirus genome by female steroid hormones in human breast cancer cell line T47D. J. Virol. 61 (6), 2059–2062.
- Ooi, S.K., Qiu, C., Bernstein, E., Li, K., Jia, D., Yang, Z., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Lin, S.P., Allis, C.D., Cheng, X., Bestor, T.H., 2007. DNMT3L connects unmethylated lysine 4 of histone H3 to *de novo* methylation of DNA. Nature 448 (7154), 714–717.
- Oswald, J., Engemann, S., Lane, N., Mayer, W., Olek, A., Fundele, R., Dean, W., Reik, W., Walter, J., 2000. Active demethylation of the paternal genome in the mouse zygote. Curr. Biol. 10 (8), 475–478.
- Pannell, D., Osborne, C.S., Yao, S., Sukonnik, T., Pasceri, P., Karaiskakis, A., Okano, M., Li, E., Lipshitz, H.D., Ellis, J., 2000. Retrovirus vector silencing is *de novo* methylase independent and marked by a repressive histone code. EMBO J. 19 (21), 5884–5894.
- Payer, B., Saitou, M., Barton, S.C., Thresher, R., Dixon, J.P., Zahn, D., Colledge, W.H., Carlton, M.B., Nakano, T., Surani, M.A., 2003. Stella is a maternal effect gene required for normal early development in mice. Curr. Biol. 13 (23), 2110–2117.
- Peaston, A.E., Evsikov, A.V., Graber, J.H., de Vries, W.N., Holbrook, A.E., Solter, D., Knowles, B.B., 2004. Retrotransposons regulate host genes in mouse oocytes and preimplantation embryos. Dev. Cell 7 (4), 597–606.
- Peters, A.H., O'Carroll, D., Scherthan, H., Mechtler, K., Sauer, S., Schofer, C., Weipoltshammer, K., Pagani, M., Lachner, M., Kohlmaier, A., Opravil, S., Doyle, M., Sibilia, M., Jenuwein, T., 2001. Loss of the Suv39h histone methyltransferases impairs mammalian heterochromatin and genome stability. Cell 107 (3), 323–337.

- Petersen, R., Kempler, G., Barklis, E., 1991. A stem cell-specific silencer in the primerbinding site of a retrovirus. Mol. Cell. Biol. 11 (3), 1214–1221.
- Piko, L., Hammons, M.D., Taylor, K.D., 1984. Amounts, synthesis, and some properties of intracisternal A particle-related RNA in early mouse embryos. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 81 (2), 488–492.
- Poznanski, A.A., Calarco, P.G., 1991. The expression of intracisternal A particle genes in the preimplantation mouse embryo. Dev. Biol. 143 (2), 271–281.
- Rakyan, V.K., Chong, S., Champ, M.E., Cuthbert, P.C., Morgan, H.D., Luu, K.V., Whitelaw, E., 2003. Transgenerational inheritance of epigenetic states at the murine Axin(Fu) allele occurs after maternal and paternal transmission. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 100 (5), 2538–2543.
- Ramirez, M.A., Pericuesta, E., Fernandez-Gonzalez, R., Moreira, P., Pintado, B., Gutierrez-Adan, A., 2006. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of retrotransposons IAP and MuERV-L affect pluripotency of mice ES cells. Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol. 4, 55.
- Ramsahoye, B.H., Biniszkiewicz, D., Lyko, F., Clark, V., Bird, A.P., Jaenisch, R., 2000. Non-CpG methylation is prevalent in embryonic stem cells and may be mediated by DNA methyltransferase 3a. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 97 (10), 5237–5242.
- Reese, K.J., Lin, S., Verona, R.I., Schultz, R.M., Bartolomei, M.S., 2007. Maintenance of paternal methylation and repression of the imprinted H19 gene requires MBD3. PLoS Genet. 3 (8), e137.
- Reik, W., 2007. Stability and flexibility of epigenetic gene regulation in mammalian development. Nature 447 (7143), 425-432.
- Reiss, D., Mager, D.L., 2007. Stochastic epigenetic silencing of retrotransposons: does stability come with age? Gene 390 (1-2), 130-135.
- Ribet, D., Dewannieux, M., Heidmann, T., 2004. An active murine transposon family pair: retrotransposition of "master" MusD copies and ETn trans-mobilization. Genome Res. 14 (11), 2261–2267.
- Ribet, D., Harper, F., Dupressoir, A., Dewannieux, M., Pierron, G., Heidmann, T., 2008. An infectious progenitor for the murine IAP retrotransposon: emergence of an intracellular genetic parasite from an ancient retrovirus. Genome Res. 18 (4), 597–609.
- Riclet, R., Chendeb, M., Vonesch, J.L., Koczan, D., Thiesen, H.J., Losson, R., Cammas, F., 2009. Disruption of the interaction between transcriptional intermediary factor 1 {beta} and heterochromatin protein 1 leads to a switch from DNA hyper- to hypomethylation and H3K9 to H3K27 trimethylation on the MEST promoter correlating with gene reactivation. Mol. Biol. Cell 20 (1), 296–305.
- Rowe, H.M., Jakobsson, J., Mesnard, D., Rougemont, J., Reynard, S., Aktas, T., Maillard, P.V., Layard-Liesching, H., Verp, S., Marquis, J., Spitz, F., Constam, D.B., Trono, D., 2010. KAP1 controls endogenous retroviruses in embryonic stem cells. Nature 463 (7278), 237–240.
- Sado, T., Okano, M., Li, E., Sasaki, H., 2004. *De novo* DNA methylation is dispensable for the initiation and propagation of X chromosome inactivation. Development 131 (5), 975–982.
- SanMiguel, P., Tikhonov, A., Jin, Y.K., Motchoulskaia, N., Zakharov, D., Melake-Berhan, A., Springer, P.S., Edwards, K.J., Lee, M., Avramova, Z., Bennetzen, J.L., 1996. Nested retrotransposons in the intergenic regions of the maize genome. Science 274 (5288), 765–768.
- Satou, A., Taira, T., Iguchi-Ariga, S.M., Ariga, H., 2001. A novel transrepression pathway of c-Myc. Recruitment of a transcriptional corepressor complex to c-Myc by MM-1, a c-Myc-binding protein. J. Biol. Chem. 276 (49), 46562–46567.
- Schiavetti, F., Thonnard, J., Colau, D., Boon, T., Coulie, P.G., 2002. A human endogenous retroviral sequence encoding an antigen recognized on melanoma by cytolytic T lymphocytes. Cancer Res. 62 (19), 5510–5516.
- Schon, U., Diem, O., Leitner, L., Gunzburg, W.H., Mager, D.L., Salmons, B., Leib-Mosch, C., 2009. Human endogenous retroviral long terminal repeat sequences as cell typespecific promoters in retroviral vectors. J. Virol. 83 (23), 12643–12650.
- Schotta, G., Lachner, M., Sarma, K., Ebert, A., Sengupta, R., Reuter, G., Reinberg, D., Jenuwein, T., 2004. A silencing pathway to induce H3-K9 and H4-K20 trimethylation at constitutive heterochromatin. Genes Dev. 18 (11), 1251–1262.
- Schroder, A.R., Shinn, P., Chen, H., Berry, C., Ecker, J.R., Bushman, F., 2002. HIV-1 integration in the human genome favors active genes and local hotspots. Cell 110 (4), 521–529.
- Schubeler, D., Lorincz, M.C., Cimbora, D.M., Telling, A., Feng, Y.Q., Bouhassira, E.E., Groudine, M., 2000. Genomic targeting of methylated DNA: influence of methylation on transcription, replication, chromatin structure, and histone acetylation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20 (24), 9103–9112.
- Schultz, D.C., Ayyanathan, K., Negorev, D., Maul, G.G., Rauscher III, F.J., 2002. SETDB1: a novel KAP-1-associated histone H3, lysine 9-specific methyltransferase that contributes to HP1-mediated silencing of euchromatic genes by KRAB zinc-finger proteins. Genes Dev. 16 (8), 919–932.
- Schultz, D.C., Friedman, J.R., Rauscher III, F.J., 2001. Targeting histone deacetylase complexes via KRAB-zinc finger proteins: the PHD and bromodomains of KAP-1 form a cooperative unit that recruits a novel isoform of the Mi-2alpha subunit of NuRD. Genes Dev. 15 (4), 428–443.
- Seifarth, W., Frank, O., Zeilfelder, U., Spiess, B., Greenwood, A.D., Hehlmann, R., Leib-Mosch, C., 2005. Comprehensive analysis of human endogenous retrovirus transcriptional activity in human tissues with a retrovirus-specific microarray. J. Virol. 79 (1), 341–352.
- Sharif, J., Muto, M., Takebayashi, S., Suetake, I., Iwamatsu, A., Endo, T.A., Shinga, J., Mizutani-Koseki, Y., Toyoda, T., Okamura, K., Tajima, S., Mitsuya, K., Okano, M., Koseki, H., 2007. The SRA protein Np95 mediates epigenetic inheritance by recruiting Dnmt1 to methylated DNA. Nature 450 (7171), 908–912.
- Shi, Y., Lan, F., Matson, C., Mulligan, P., Whetstine, J.R., Cole, P.A., Casero, R.A., 2004. Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. Cell 119 (7), 941–953.

- Singh, S., Kaye, S., Gore, M.E., McClure, M.O., Bunker, C.B., 2009. The role of human endogenous retroviruses in melanoma. Br. J. Dermatol. 161 (6), 1225–1231.
- Song, S.U., Gerasimova, T., Kurkulos, M., Boeke, J.D., Corces, V.G., 1994. An env-like protein encoded by a *Drosophila* retroelement: evidence that gypsy is an infectious retrovirus. Genes Dev. 8 (17), 2046–2057.
- Soper, S.F., van der Heijden, G.W., Hardiman, T.C., Goodheart, M., Martin, S.L., de Boer, P., Bortvin, A., 2008. Mouse maelstrom, a component of nuage, is essential for spermatogenesis and transposon repression in meiosis. Dev. Cell 15 (2), 285–297.
- Sripathy, S.P., Stevens, J., Schultz, D.C., 2006. The KAP1 corepressor functions to coordinate the assembly of *de novo* HP1-demarcated microenvironments of heterochromatin required for KRAB zinc finger protein-mediated transcriptional repression. Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 (22), 8623–8638.
- Stetson, D.B., Ko, J.S., Heidmann, T., Medzhitov, R., 2008. Trex1 prevents cell-intrinsic initiation of autoimmunity. Cell 134 (4), 587–598.
- Su, A.I., Wiltshire, T., Batalov, S., Lapp, H., Ching, K.A., Block, D., Zhang, J., Soden, R., Hayakawa, M., Kreiman, G., Cooke, M.P., Walker, J.R., Hogenesch, J.B., 2004. A gene atlas of the mouse and human protein-encoding transcriptomes. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 101 (16), 6062–6067.
- Suetake, I., Shinozaki, F., Miyagawa, J., Takeshima, H., Tajima, S., 2004. DNMT3L stimulates the DNA methylation activity of Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b through a direct interaction. J. Biol. Chem. 279 (26), 27816–27823.
- Svoboda, P., Stein, P., Anger, M., Bernstein, E., Hannon, G.J., Schultz, R.M., 2004. RNAi and expression of retrotransposons MuERV-L and IAP in preimplantation mouse embryos. Dev. Biol. 269 (1), 276–285.
- Tachibana, M., Matsumura, Y., Fukuda, M., Kimura, H., Shinkai, Y., 2008. G9a/GLP complexes independently mediate H3K9 and DNA methylation to silence transcription. EMBO J. 27 (20), 2681–2690.
- Tachibana, M., Sugimoto, K., Nozaki, M., Ueda, J., Ohta, T., Ohki, M., Fukuda, M., Takeda, N., Niida, H., Kato, H., Shinkai, Y., 2002. G9a histone methyltransferase plays a dominant role in euchromatic histone H3 lysine 9 methylation and is essential for early embryogenesis. Genes Dev. 16 (14), 1779–1791.
- Tachibana, M., Ueda, J., Fukuda, M., Takeda, N., Ohta, T., Iwanari, H., Sakihama, T., Kodama, T., Hamakubo, T., Shinkai, Y., 2005. Histone methyltransferases G9a and GLP form heteromeric complexes and are both crucial for methylation of euchromatin at H3-K9. Genes Dev. 19 (7), 815–826.
- Tadepally, H.D., Burger, G., Aubry, M., 2008. Evolution of C2H2-zinc finger genes and subfamilies in mammals: species-specific duplication and loss of clusters, genes and effector domains. BMC Evol. Biol. 8, 176.
- Takabatake, T., Ishihara, H., Ohmachi, Y., Tanaka, I., Nakamura, M.M., Fujikawa, K., Hirouchi, T., Kakinuma, S., Shimada, Y., Oghiso, Y., Tanaka, K., 2008. Microarraybased global mapping of integration sites for the retrotransposon, intracisternal Aparticle, in the mouse genome. Nucleic Acids Res. 36 (10), e59.
- Takahashi, K., Sugi, Y., Hosono, A., Kaminogawa, S., 2009. Epigenetic regulation of TLR4 gene expression in intestinal epithelial cells for the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. J. Immunol. 183 (10), 6522–6529.
- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126 (4), 663–676.
- Tam, O.H., Aravin, A.A., Stein, P., Girard, A., Murchison, E.P., Cheloufi, S., Hodges, E., Anger, M., Sachidanandam, R., Schultz, R.M., Hannon, G.J., 2008. Pseudogenederived small interfering RNAs regulate gene expression in mouse oocytes. Nature 453 (7194), 534–538.
- Teich, N.M., Weiss, R.A., Martin, G.R., Lowy, D.R., 1977. Virus infection of murine teratocarcinoma stem cell lines. Cell 12 (4), 973–982.
- Terranova, R., Yokobayashi, S., Stadler, M.B., Otte, A.P., van Lohuizen, M., Orkin, S.H., Peters, A.H., 2008. Polycomb group proteins Ezh2 and Rnf2 direct genomic contraction and imprinted repression in early mouse embryos. Dev. Cell 15 (5), 668–679.
- Towbin, B.D., Meister, P., Gasser, S.M., 2009. The nuclear envelope a scaffold for silencing? Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 19 (2), 180–186.
- Tran, R.K., Henikoff, J.G., Zilberman, D., Ditt, R.F., Jacobsen, S.E., Henikoff, S., 2005. DNA methylation profiling identifies CG methylation clusters in Arabidopsis genes. Curr. Biol. 15 (2), 154–159.
- Trono, D., Van Lint, C., Rouzioux, C., Verdin, E., Barre-Sinoussi, F., Chun, T.W., Chomont, N., 2010. HIV persistence and the prospect of long-term drug-free remissions for HIV-infected individuals. Science 329 (5988), 174–180.
- Tsukiyama, T., Niwa, O., Yokoro, K., 1989. Mechanism of suppression of the long terminal repeat of Moloney leukemia virus in mouse embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 9 (11), 4670–4676.
- Tsumura, A., Hayakawa, T., Kumaki, Y., Takebayashi, S., Sakaue, M., Matsuoka, C., Shimotohno, K., Ishikawa, F., Li, E., Ueda, H.R., Nakayama, J., Okano, M., 2006. Maintenance of self-renewal ability of mouse embryonic stem cells in the absence of DNA methyltransferases Dnmt1, Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b. Genes Cells 11 (7), 805–814.
- Turelli, P., Trono, D., 2005. Editing at the crossroad of innate and adaptive immunity. Science 307 (5712), 1061–1065.
- Turner, G., Barbulescu, M., Su, M., Jensen-Seaman, M.I., Kidd, K.K., Lenz, J., 2001. Insertional polymorphisms of full-length endogenous retroviruses in humans. Curr. Biol. 11 (19), 1531–1535.
- Underhill, C., Qutob, M.S., Yee, S.P., Torchia, J., 2000. A novel nuclear receptor corepressor complex, N-CoR, contains components of the mammalian SWI/SNF complex and the corepressor KAP-1. J. Biol. Chem. 275 (51), 40463–40470.

- Urrutia, R., 2003. KRAB-containing zinc-finger repressor proteins. Genome Biol. 4 (10), 231.
- van de Lagemaat, L.N., Landry, J.R., Mager, D.L., Medstrand, P., 2003. Transposable elements in mammals promote regulatory variation and diversification of genes with specialized functions. Trends Genet. 19 (10), 530–536.
- van Steensel, B., Delrow, J., Henikoff, S., 2001. Chromatin profiling using targeted DNA adenine methyltransferase. Nat. Genet. 27 (3), 304–308.
- Venter, J.C., et al., 2001. The sequence of the human genome. Science 291 (5507), 1304–1351.
- Vernet, M., Cebrian, J., 1996. Cis-acting elements that mediate the negative regulation of Moloney murine leukemia virus in mouse early embryos. J. Virol. 70 (8), 5630–5633.
- Walsh, C.P., Chaillet, J.R., Bestor, T.H., 1998. Transcription of IAP endogenous retroviruses is constrained by cytosine methylation. Nat. Genet. 20 (2), 116–117.
- Watanabe, T., Totoki, Y., Toyoda, A., Kaneda, M., Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Obata, Y., Chiba, H., Kohara, Y., Kono, T., Nakano, T., Surani, M.A., Sakaki, Y., Sasaki, H., 2008. Endogenous siRNAs from naturally formed dsRNAs regulate transcripts in mouse oocytes. Nature 453 (7194), 539–543.
- Waterston, R.H., et al., 2002. Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature 420 (6915), 520–562.
- Weber, M., Hellmann, I., Stadler, M.B., Ramos, L., Paabo, S., Rebhan, M., Schubeler, D., 2007. Distribution, silencing potential and evolutionary impact of promoter DNA methylation in the human genome. Nat. Genet. 39 (4), 457–466.
- Wen, B., Wu, H., Shinkai, Y., Irizarry, R.A., Feinberg, A.P., 2009. Large histone H3 lysine 9 dimethylated chromatin blocks distinguish differentiated from embryonic stem cells. Nat. Genet. 41 (2), 246–250.
- Wernig, M., Meissner, A., Foreman, R., Brambrink, T., Ku, M., Hochedlinger, K., Bernstein, B.E., Jaenisch, R., 2007. In vitro reprogramming of fibroblasts into a pluripotent EScell-like state. Nature 448 (7151), 318–324.
- Wiznerowicz, M., Jakobsson, J., Szulc, J., Liao, S., Quazzola, A., Beermann, F., Aebischer, P., Trono, D., 2007. The Kruppel-associated box repressor domain can trigger *de novo* promoter methylation during mouse early embryogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 282 (47), 34535–34541.
- Wolf, D., Cammas, F., Losson, R., Goff, S.P., 2008a. Primer binding site-dependent restriction of murine leukemia virus requires HP1 binding by TRIM28. J. Virol. 82 (9), 4675–4679.
- Wolf, D., Goff, S.P., 2007. TRIM28 mediates primer binding site-targeted silencing of murine leukemia virus in embryonic cells. Cell 131 (1), 46–57.
- Wolf, D., Goff, S.P., 2008. Host restriction factors blocking retroviral replication. Annu. Rev. Genet. 42, 143–163.
- Wolf, D., Goff, S.P., 2009. Embryonic stem cells use ZFP809 to silence retroviral DNAs. Nature 458 (7242), 1201–1204.
- Wolf, D., Hug, K., Goff, S.P., 2008b. TRIM28 mediates primer binding site-targeted silencing of Lys1, 2 tRNA-utilizing retroviruses in embryonic cells. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 105 (34), 12521–12526.
- Wu, S.C., Zhang, Y., 2010. Active DNA demethylation: many roads lead to Rome. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11 (9), 607–620.
- Yamauchi, M., Freitag, B., Khan, C., Berwin, B., Barklis, E., 1995. Stem cell factor binding to retrovirus primer binding site silencers. J. Virol. 69 (2), 1142–1149.
- Yan, Q., Huang, J., Fan, T., Zhu, H., Muegge, K., 2003. Lsh, a modulator of CpG methylation, is crucial for normal histone methylation. EMBO J. 22 (19), 5154–5162.
- Yang, N., Kazazian Jr., H.H., 2006. L1 retrotransposition is suppressed by endogenously encoded small interfering RNAs in human cultured cells. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 13 (9), 763–771.
- Yoder, J.A., Walsh, C.P., Bestor, T.H., 1997. Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites. Trends Genet. 13 (8), 335–340.
- Yoshimura, T., Toyoda, S., Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Miyazaki, T., Miyazaki, S., Tashiro, F., Yamato, E., Nakano, T., Miyazaki, J., 2009. Gtsf1/Cue110, a gene encoding a protein with two copies of a CHHC Zn-finger motif, is involved in spermatogenesis and retrotransposon suppression in murine testes. Dev. Biol. 335 (1), 216–227.
- You, A., Tong, J.K., Grozinger, C.M., Schreiber, S.L., 2001. CoREST is an integral component of the CoREST-human histone deacetylase complex. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 98 (4), 1454–1458.
- Yuan, P., Han, J., Guo, G., Orlov, Y.L., Huss, M., Loh, Y.H., Yaw, L.P., Robson, P., Lim, B., Ng, H.H., 2009. Eset partners with Oct4 to restrict extraembryonic trophoblast lineage potential in embryonic stem cells. Genes Dev. 23 (21), 2507–2520.
- Zeng, L., Yap, K.L., Ivanov, A.V., Wang, X., Mujtaba, S., Plotnikova, O., Rauscher III, F.J., Zhou, M.M., 2008. Structural insights into human KAP1 PHD finger-bromodomain and its role in gene silencing. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15 (6), 626–633.
- Zhang, Y., Maksakova, I.A., Gagnier, L., van de Lagemaat, L.N., Mager, D.L., 2008. Genome-wide assessments reveal extremely high levels of polymorphism of two active families of mouse endogenous retroviral elements. PLoS Genet. 4 (2), e1000007.
- Zhu, H., Geiman, T.M., Xi, S., Jiang, Q., Schmidtmann, A., Chen, T., Li, E., Muegge, K., 2006. Lsh is involved in *de novo* methylation of DNA. EMBO J. 25 (2), 335–345.
- Ziv, Y., Bielopolski, D., Galanty, Y., Lukas, C., Taya, Y., Schultz, D.C., Lukas, J., Bekker-Jensen, S., Bartek, J., Shiloh, Y., 2006. Chromatin relaxation in response to DNA double-strand breaks is modulated by a novel ATM- and KAP-1 dependent pathway. Nat. Cell Biol. 8 (8), 870–876.